ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital ORTON Foundation Helsinki, Finland

FEAR OF MOVEMENT

Epidemiological and clinical evaluation in the Finnish general population and chronic musculoskeletal pain patients and relevance for rehabilitation

Petteri Koho

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of The University of Helsinki, for public examination in the Auditorium of the Invalid Foundation, Tenholantie 10, on December 11th, 2015 at 12 noon

Helsinki 2015

Supervised by:

Professor Heikki Hurri, MD, PhD ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital, ORTON Foundation Helsinki, Finland

Docent Timo Pohjolainen, MD, PhD ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital, ORTON Foundation Helsinki Hospital Spine Center Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by:

Professor Kristiina Härkäpää, PhD University of Lapland, Rovaniemi, Finland

Professor Hannu Luomajoki, PhD ZHAW, Zurich University of Applied Sciences Winterthur, Switzerland

Opponent:

Docent Simo Taimela, MD PhD University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Cover drawing by Saara Koho

ISBN 978-952-9657-82-7 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-9657-83-4 (pdf) ISSN 1455-1330

Unigrafia Helsinki 2015

To Emma and Saara

CONTENTS

AE	STR/	ACT				
TIIVISTELMÄ						
LIS	ST OF	ORIGI	NAL PUBLICATIONS			
ABBREVIATIONS						
1	INTRODUCTION					
2	REV	REVIEW OF LITERATURE				
	2.1	1 Musculoskeletal pain				
		2.1.1	Acute pain			
		2.1.2	Subacute pain			
		2.1.3	Chronic pain14			
		2.1.4	Transition from acute to chronic pain, from physiological pain to pathophysiological pain15			
		2.1.5	Disability in musculoskeletal disorders16			
		2.1.6	Prevalence and occurrence of common musculoskeletal disorders			
		2.1.7	From biomedical to bio-psycho-social model of pain18			
	2.2	Fear-a	avoidance model of pain (FAM)19			
2.3 Kinesiophobia, fear of movement, fear-avoidance beliefs and pain related fear			iophobia, fear of movement, fear-avoidance beliefs ain related fear21			
		2.3.1	Definitions of fear, phobia and anxiety 22			
		2.3.2	Assessment of fear of movement 23			
		2.3.3	ICF and the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia 24			
2.4 Pain behaviour		pehaviour				
	2.5	Avoid	ance behaviour and consequences of avoidance			
3	AIM	S OF TH	HE STUDY			
4	MAT	ERIAL	AND METHODS			
	4.1	Study	populations			
	4.2	Meas	urements			
	4.3	Statis	tical analyses			

5	RES	RESULTS			
	5.1	Kinesiophobia, gender and age (I, II, III and IV)			
	5.2	Reliability and comparability of the paper and computer version of the TSK-FIN (III)41			
	5.3	Association between kinesiophobia and self-reported questionnaires (I, II)			
	5.4	The association of kinesiophobia to leisure time physical activity (II, IV)			
	5.5	Prevalence of kinesiophobia among the general population (IV)			
	5.6	Reliability of assessment of pain behaviour			
6	DISCUSSION				
	6.1	TSK-FIN values in Finnish patient samples and general population 50			
	6.2	Psychometric properties of TSK-FIN51			
		6.2.1 Internal consistency			
		6.2.2 Reliability			
	6.3	Structure of the TSK			
	6.4	Fear of movement and physical activity in the general population and patients with chronic pain			
	6.5	The impact of the pain management program on fear of movement 56			
	6.6	Assessment of pain behaviour			
	6.7	Association of pain behaviour with perceived disability, physical impairment and function			
	6.8	Limitations and statistical considerations			
	6.9	Further studies61			
7	MAI	N FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS			
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS					
REFERENCES					
APPENDICES					
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS					

ABSTRACT

The purpose of the research project was to develop a functional assessment tool for the assessment of pain behaviour and to investigate the relationship between pain behaviour, fear of movement (TSK-FIN), physical function, and disability (I), and to study the association between fear of movement and leisure time physical activity (LTPA) among chronic pain patients attending a multi-disciplinary biopsycho-social pain management program (II), and to estimate the measurement properties of the Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) among chronic pain patients (III), and to investigate fear of movement among the general population and to create reference values for the TSK-FIN in the Finnish general population (IV).

For the intra- and inter-observer reliability, a high percentage of agreement and good to excellent levels of kappa scores for agreement were demonstrated. There was a strong correlation between pain behaviour and subjective pain report and disability (P<0.01). The TSK-FIN had the strongest correlation (r= 0.60) to depression (Modified Zung), moderate correlations to pain behaviour (r= 0.34) and disability (Oswestry Disability Index, ODI) (r= 0.37) and low correlation to subjective pain (r= 0.30). The correlations between total pain behaviour and physical function tests are strong (P<0.01). Only grip strength was not correlated with pain behaviour (I).

The level of kinesiophobia was associated with disability (p=0.013) and depressive symptoms (p=0.028). Kinesiophobia and leisure time physical activity were inversely associated. At baseline, the mean LTPA index of the high kinesiophobia group was lower than in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups (p=0.012). At the 6-month follow-up, patients with high kinesiophobia had increased their physical activity to the same level as the other groups. This change was maintained up to the 12-month follow-up. The mean change in the physical activity score was 4 (p=0.008). The mean change in the TSK-FIN score was -2.0 (p=0.01). The effect sizes of the change in the LTPA index and pain intensity at the 12-month follow-up were both moderate in the high kinesiophobia group while they were small in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups (II).

Subjects scored higher on the computer version, mean (SD) 37.1 (8.1), compared to the paper version, mean 35.3 (7.9). The mean difference between the computer and the paper version was 1.9 (p=0.001). The test-retest reliability (ICC) for the paper version of the TSK-FIN was 0.89 and for the computer version 0.88, which indicates excellent reliability. The internal consistencies were 0.80 and 0.82 respectively. The ICC for comparability was 0.77, indicating good reliability between the different

methods. The reproducibility coefficient indicated that there is a 95% expectation that the paper and computer versions differ by less than 11 points. In terms of individual variability, 62% varied by less than 3 points and 44% by less than 2 points (III).

The TSK-FIN score and age were associated in both sexes (p<0.01 for men and p<0.001 for women). Men over 55 and women over 65 had higher scores than younger ones. The presence of cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disease or mental disorder was significantly associated with a higher TSK-FIN score compared to the absence of the aforementioned disorders. The cumulative distribution of the TSK-FIN showed that, of all subjects, 14.2% scored 40 points or more. If the cut-off point for kinesiophobia is set at 37 points, 24.5% of the subjects are considered to have kinesiophobia (IV).

The results of this research project suggest that the assessment of pain behaviour demonstrated acceptable reliability. The TSK-FIN also demonstrated acceptable reliability and internal consistency. Among patients with musculoskeletal pain, the TSK-FIN and LTPA are inversely related. A pain management program seems to have favourable effect on the fear of movement and LTPA. Among patient samples (I-III) the mean scores of the TSK-FIN were significantly higher (p<0.001 - p=0.007) compared to the general population (IV). In the present study, men had higher mean values in the total TSK-FIN score in the all samples overall. Further studies are needed to evaluate the validity and factorial structure of the TSK-FIN with all the 17 items and also the widely used 11 -item version of the TSK. Also, studies of measurement properties such as test-retest reliability, predictive validity and internal consistency within the general population are warranted. Content validity of the TSK clearly needs to be explored with a larger sample including measures of disability and functioning as well as psychosocial dimensions, Health Related Ouality of Life, and factors related to the Fear Avoidance Model. In addition, further research is required to study the minimal detectable change in the TSK-FIN.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli kehittää toiminnallinen arviointimenetelmä kipukäyttäytymisen arviointiin sekä tutkia kipukäyttäytymisen, liikkumisen pelon (TSK-FIN), fyysisen toimintakyvyn ja toimintakyvyn haitan välisiä yhteyksiä (I), ja tutkia liikkumisen pelon ja vapaa-ajan liikunta-aktiivisuuden (LTPA) yhteyttä moniammatilliseen kipukuntoutukseen osallistuvilla kroonisilla kipupotilailla (II), ja arvioida suomenkielisen Tampa Scale of kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) – mittarin ominaisuuksia kroonisilla kipupotilailla (III), sekä tutkia liikkumisen pelkoa normaaliväestössä ja luoda suomalaiset väestöarvot TSK-FIN- mittarille (IV).

Kipukäyttäytymisen arviointimenetelmän toistettavuutta kuvaavat prosentuaaliset osuudet (agreement percentage) ja kappa-kertoimet osoittivat hyvää toistettavuutta. Kipukäyttäytymisen arvioinnilla oli vahva yhteys koettuun kipuun ja toimintakyvyn haittaan (P <0.01). Liikkumisen pelolla oli vahvin yhteys (r = 0.60) masennukseen (Mod. Zung), kohtalainen yhteys kipukäyttäytymiseen (r = 0.34) ja toimintakyvyn haittaan (ODI) (r = 0.37) sekä heikko yhteys koettuun kipuun (r = 0.30). Kipukäyttäytymisen ja fyysisen toimintakyvyn testien väliset yhteydet olivat vahvoja (P <0.01). Vain puristusvoima ei ollut yhteydessä kipukäyttäytymiseen (I).

Liikkumisen pelko oli yhteydessä koettuun toimintakyvyn haittaan (p = 0.013) ja masennusoireisiin (p = 0.028). Liikkumisen pelon ja vapaa-ajan liikunta-aktiivisuuden yhteys oli käänteinen. Kuntoutuksen alkutilanteessa keskimääräinen LTPA -indeksi oli matalampi korkean liikkumisen pelon -ryhmässä kuin matalan ja keskitason liikkumisen pelon -ryhmissä (p = 0.012). Kuuden kuukauden seurannassa korkean liikkumisen pelon – ryhmään kuuluvien liikunta-aktiivisuus lisääntyi samalle tasolle kuin muilla ryhmillä. Tämä muutos säilyi 12 kuukauden seurannassa. Keskimääräinen muutos liikunta-aktiivisuudessa oli 4 pistettä (p = 0.008). Keskimääräinen muutos TSK-FIN mittarissa oli -2.0 (p = 0.01). Kahdentoista kuukauden seuranta-aikana vaikutuksen suuruus LTPA -indeksin ja kivun intensiteetti muutoksessa oli kohtalainen korkean liikkumisen pelon ryhmässä, kun vaikutuksen suuruus oli pieni matalan ja keskitason kinesiophobia ryhmissä (II).

TSK-FIN:n keskiarvo tietokoneella täytettynä oli korkeampi (37.1 (8.1)) kuin paperiversiossa (35.3 (7.9)). Keskimääräinen ero tietokoneen ja paperin versio oli 1.9 (p = 0.001). Test-retest toistettavuus (ICC) oli paperiversiolla 0.89 ja tietokoneversiolla 0.88, mikä osoittaa erinomaista toistettavuutta. Sisäiset johdonmukaisuudet olivat vastaavasti 0.80 ja 0.82. Menetelmien välinen ICC vertailtavuudelle oli 0.77, joka osoittaa hyvää luotettavuutta. Toistettavuuskerroin osoittaa 95 %:n odotusarvoa paperi ja tietokoneen versioiden eron olevan vähemmän kuin 11 pistettä. Yksilöllisestä vaihtelusta 62 % oli vähemmän kuin kolme pistettä ja 44 % vähemmän kuin kaksi pistettä (III).

TSK-FIN pistemäärä ja ikä olivat yhteydessä molemmilla sukupuolilla (p <0.01 miehille ja p <0.001 naisilla). Yli 55 – vuotiailla miehillä ja yli 65 –vuotiailla naisilla oli korkeampi pistemäärä kuin nuoremmilla. Sydän- ja verisuonitaudit, TULE-vaivat tai mielenterveyden häiriöt olivat yhteydessä suurentuneeseen TSK-FIN pistemäärään. Kumulatiivinen TSK-FIN jakauma osoittaa, että kaikista osallistuneista 14.2 % ylitti pistemäärän 40 pistettä tai enemmän. Jos liikkumisen pelon raja-arvo ase-tetaan 37 pisteeseen, 24.5 %:lla koehenkilöistä voidaan katsoa olevan liikkumisen pelkoa (IV).

Tutkimustulosten mukaan kipukäyttäytymisen arviointimenetelmän toistettavuus on hyväksyttävällä tasolla. Myös TSK-FIN -mittarin luotettavuus ja sisäinen johdonmukaisuus ovat hyväksyttävät. Tule potilailla TSK-FIN ja LTPA ovat käänteisesti yhteydessä. Kipukuntoutuksella näyttää olevan edullinen vaikutus liikkumisen pelon vähenemiseen ja LTPA lisäämiseen. Potilassarjoissa (I-III) TSK-FIN keskiarvot olivat merkittävästi korkeammat (p < 0.001 - p = 0.007) verrattuna normaali väestöön (IV). Tässä tutkimuksessa miesten TSK-FIN:n keskiarvo oli korkeampi. Lisätutkimuksia tarvitaan TSK-FIN:n validiteetin ja faktorirakenteen arvioimiseksi sekä TSK -17 lomakkeesta, että myös laajalti käytetystä TSK -11 versiosta. Myös mittausominaisuuksien, kuten test-retest toistettavuuden, ennustekyky ja sisäisen johdonmukaisuuden tutkiminen normaaliväestössä ovat perusteltuja. Sisällöllisen pätevyyden arvioimiseksi tarvitaan lisätietoa suuremmasta otoksesta, jolloin voidaan arvioida liikkumisen pelon yhteyttä toimintakyvyn haittaan, toimintaan sekä psykososiaalisiin tekijöihin, kuten elämän laatuun ja, pelko-välttämismalliin liittyviin tekijöihin. Olisi tarpeen myös arvioida TSK-FIN mittarin muutosherkkyyttä.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by their roman numerals.

- I Koho P, Aho S, Watson P, Hurri H. 2001. Assessment of chronic pain behaviour: reliability of the method and its relationship with perceived disability, physical impairment and function. J Rehabil Med. Mar;33(3):128-132.
- II Koho P, Orenius T, Kautiainen H, Haanpää M, Pohjolainen T, Hurri H. 2011. Association of fear of movement and leisure-time physical activity among patients with chronic pain. J Rehabil Med. Sep;43(9):794-799.
- III Koho P, Aho S, Kautiainen H, Pohjolainen T, Hurri H. 2014. Test-retest reliability and comparability of paper and computer questionnaires for the Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia. Physiotherapy. Dec;100(4):356–362.
- IV Koho P, Borodulin K, Kautiainen H, Kujala UM, Pohjolainen T, Hurri H. 2015. Finnish version of Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia. Reference values in the Finnish general population and associations to Leisure Time Physical Activity. J Rehabil Med. Feb, 47(3):249-255.

In addition, some unpublished results are presented.

The articles are reprinted with the kind permission of the copyright holders.

ABBREVIATIONS

ACC	Anterior Cingulate Cortex
ANCOVA	Analysis of co-variance
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
FABQ	Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire
FPQ	Fear of Pain questionnaire
CI	Confidence Interval
CLBP	Chronic Low Back Pain
ES	Effect Size
FAM	Fear-Avoidance Model
ICC	Intra-class Correlation Coefficient
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health
HRQoL	Health related quality of life
LBP	Low Back Pain
LTPA	Leisure Time Physical Activity
LoA	Limits of Agreement
mPFC	medial Prefrontal Cortex
OA	Osteoarthritis
ODI	Oswestry Disability Index
TSK	Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia
VAS	Visual Analogue Scale
WHO	World Health Organization

1 INTRODUCTION

In primary care, 40% of the reasons for visiting a physician are due to pain. A half of the pains arise from musculoskeletal disorders. Taken together with the facts that 20 % of patients have chronic pain, 25 % of the patients of active working age receive sick leave due to their complaint, one in four people aged over 30 have at least one diagnosed musculoskeletal disease or syndrome, and, one in six of the working population has reported severe physical impairment at work, pain can be considered a major health care and public health problem (Mäntyselkä et al. 2001, Kaila-Kangas 2007).

The most common disorders among working subjects are low back, neck and shoulder syndromes of which back related disorders are a major reason for the use of health services, sick leave, and of early retirement. In about 85 % of patients with low back pain (LBP) precise pathoanatomical diagnose is lacking. The majority of nonspecific LBP related costs (> 70 %) is generated by a small subgroup (< 10 %) of patients (Dionne et al. 2005). Early retirement, sick leave, use of healthcare services and disability at work causes most of the expenses. Several factors are recognized to be associated with back pain, including socioeconomic background, physical workload, mental distress, anxiety, fear-avoidance and many life-style variables (Heistaro et al. 1998, Riihimaki and Viikari-Juntura 2000, Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2006b).

Psychological factors are implicated in the transition from the acute phase to chronic low back pain (Pincus et al. 2006). Earlier studies have demonstrated that fear of movement and fear of (re)injury are better predictors of functional limitations than biomedical parameters (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2006b). Crombez et al. (1999) showed that pain-related fear was the best predictor of behavioural performance in trunk extension, flexion and weight-lifting tasks when filtering out the effects of pain intensity. High levels of fear avoidance beliefs relate to increased levels of disability (Cook et al. 2006, Leeuw et al. 2007b). In particular, fear of movement is significantly associated with disability in chronic low back pain (Schiphorst Preuper et al. 2008) and pain-related fear can be more disabling than the pain itself (Vlaeyen et al. 1995a, Crombez et al. 1999). High pain related fear has shown to be the most powerful predictor of disability (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2006a).

Pain has an important protective function for people. Typical protective behaviours are reflex-like withdrawal functions away from the noxious stimulus, verbal and nonverbal expressions. The importance of pain has been shown to predict the extent to which individuals engage in these protective behaviours rather than the pain itself (Beecher 1946, Arntz and Claassens 2004).

The aims of the management of patients with chronic pain problems differ in the management of those with acute problems in that treatment focuses on the reduction of disability, alleviation of psychological distress and reducing pain behaviour (Watson 1999a). Decreasing the fear of movement is one goal in pain management and rehabilitation; a reduction in pain-related anxiety seems to predict improvement in functioning, affective distress, pain and pain-related interference of activity (McCracken and Gross 1998). However, although this goal is widely accepted, the authors of earlier studies have not determined whether the decrease in fear of movement increases physical activity among participants in pain management programs. It has been shown that a low level of physical activity in back pain patients is associated with a high level of fear-avoidance beliefs (Elfving et al. 2007), that high fear-avoiders benefit more from an exercise program in terms of disability (Klaber Moffett et al. 2004), and that fear of movement decreases during an intensive physical therapy program in chronic low back pain (Kernan and Rainville 2007).

2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 MUSCULOSKELETAL PAIN

2.1.1 Acute pain

The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) has defined pain as 'An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage'. According to the definition pain has two dimensions; a sensory-discriminative one and affective-motivational one. Although acute pain is an unpleasant experience, it has biologically relevant meaning as it serves as a warning mechanism of potential tissue damage and leads towards action by which damage can be minimalized. Acute pain might be caused many by events e.g. by a disease or a trauma such as a sprained ankle, broken bones, burns or cuts. Regardless of the origin, acute pain usually resolves as the involved tissues heal. Acute pain typically lasts less than six weeks and its intensity is usually related to tissue damage.

2.1.2 Subacute pain

The term subacute pain is used especially in patients with low back pain or neck pain. Subacute pain refers to pain which has lasted from six weeks up to three months. The subacute phase is seen essential in order to recognize patients in risk of developing chronic pain (Melloh et al. 2011).

2.1.3 Chronic pain

The majority of musculoskeletal tissue damages heal within three to six months, e.g. chronic back pain is widely defined as symptoms persisting for more than three months, whereas in whiplash the timeframe of chronic pain is six months (Scholten-Peeters et al. 2002). Within that context, chronic pain can be considered as pain that lasts after the initial tissue damage has healed. This time-bound definition leaves the pathomechanism of pain unresolved. Chronic pain may be caused by a variety of diseases, or it may be the result of an injury such as back strain, a nerve entrapment or nerve injury. Chronic pain can affect anyone, regardless of age or background, and can occur in almost any part of the body.

2.1.4 Transition from acute to chronic pain, from physiological pain to pathophysiological pain

The other option regarding the categorizing of pain is physiological and pathophysiological pain, which refers directly to whether the nervous system from peripheral nociceptive stimuli to the perception of pain is functioning properly. Transition from acute pain to chronic pain is not simply an on-off type of behavioural change in the pain system. Transition of pain-type is rather a process with discrete pathophysiological steps which means physical remodelling of neuronal cytoarchitecture i.e. neuroplasticity (Voscopoulos and Lema 2010). Changes may occur in both the peripheral and central nervous system. Transition can be affected by biomedical, occupational and psychosocial risk factors (Chou and Shekelle 2010). Biomedical factors include duration and intensity of the initial pain stimulus, which both are capable of leading to both peripheral and central sensitization that aggravate pain perception (Voscopoulos and Lema 2010).

Inflammation of peripheral nociceptors or lesion in peripheral nerves may lead to increased flow of pain impulses to the spinal cord which may lead to damage of inhibitory interneurones. Furthermore, interneurones may become more sensitive to stimuli leading to central sensitization (Torebjörk et al. 1992). As a result, distorted peripheral and central information impinges on the limbic circuitry (hippocampus; nucleus accumbens; and amygdala) (Apkarian et al. 2013).

Transition from physiological i.e. nociceptive pain to pathophysiological pain i.e. neuropathic pain requires a prolonged ongoing sensitization caused either by constant afferent stimulation from injured nerves or functional changes in the dorsal root (McLachlan et al. 1993, Sheen and Chung 1993). As a result of inflammatory and pathological pain, noxious stimuli are no longer required to generate pain, and pain may arise spontaneously in the absence of any stimulus.

An interesting point of view is the notion that genes may play an important role in hypersensitivity and transition from acute to chronic pain, which opens new points of view into finding out who are at risk of developing chronic pain as well as into developing new treatment options (Hartvigsen et al. 2009, Costigan et al. 2010, Williams et al. 2010).

Emotional effects include depression, anger, anxiety, and fear of re-injury. Such a fear might hinder a person's ability to return to normal work or leisure activities (Eccleston et al. 2001). Brain imaging studies have shown that variations in pain characteristics are distinct for different types of chronic pain and those variations cannot be seen among healthy subjects pretending to have pain (Foss et al. 2006). Recent brain imaging studies have also pointed out that the localization of pain is different in acute and chronic pain. High intensity chronic low back pain was localized to the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and the anterior part of anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). In acute pain, portions of the insula and mid-ACC were active only transiently when the intensity of back pain was on the increase (Apkarian et al. 2011). Thus, chronic pain is associated with the brain's emotional learning circuitry. And furthermore, the strength of synchrony between the medial prefrontal cortex and nucleus accumbens has been shown to predict transition to chronic pain although the involvement of this circuitry in pain is still not fully explored (Apkarian et al. 2013).

The interaction of the limbic circuitry with prefrontal processes is shown to be associated with the transition of a pain condition to a more emotional state (Apkarian et al. 2013). It has been proposed that the prefrontal cortex facilitates fear memory through the integration of sensory and emotional signals and through the coordination of memory storage in an amygdala-based network (Gilmartin et al. 2014).

2.1.5 Disability in musculoskeletal disorders

Chronic pain has many physical and emotional consequences. Physical consequences include increased muscle tension, decreased muscle function, limited mobility and limited range of motion in joints or general poor functioning. Self-rated disability at work and during leisure time is strongly associated with the presence of musculoskeletal disorders or diseases. In the Finnish population, aged 30 years or older, the prevalence of at least one musculoskeletal disease or syndrome is 27.8%. Musculoskeletal disorders are more common among the non-working population (35%) compared to the working population (20%). Among the working population, the prevalence of self-reported severe (6 or more on the 0 to 10 scale) disability at work is 13% in men and 21% in women, and during leisure time it is 12% and 17%, respectively. Among the non-working population, the prevalence of severe disability during leisure time is 23% in men and 24.5% in women. The most common disorders among the working population reported to cause physical impairment at work or during leisure time were low back, neck and shoulder pain. In both genders, the level of education is associated with disability at work. The lower the education, the more commonly the subjects had impairment. (Kaila-Kangas 2007)

2.1.6 Prevalence and occurrence of common musculoskeletal disorders

Based on a Finnish health survey in 2000 (Kaila-Kangas 2007), back pain is the most common musculoskeletal disorder among the Finnish population. The lifetime occurrence of back pain for men is 76.7% and 75.8% for women. The occurrence of sciatic pain was greater among women, 39.5% of women and 30.4% of men have had sciatic pain sometime during their life. Women seem to have more neck pain than men, lifetime occurrence being 54% in men and 68% in women. Also

in lifetime occurrence of shoulder pain there is a gender difference. Of the men, 42.5% and of the women 50.8% reported shoulder pain sometime during their life (Kaila-Kangas 2007).

Age-adjusted prevalence of back pain during the past 30 days among the Finnish population over 18 years of age has increased during the past ten years from 28.2% to 34.6% in men and from 33.1 to 41.4% in women. The prevalence of neck pain during the past 30 days has increased from 24% to 27.2% in men and from 37 to 41.2% in women. The proportion of those suffering from shoulder pain during the last 30 days was higher among men (28.5%) than women (25.7%). The prevalence of shoulder pain increased with age in both genders (Viikari-Juntura et al. 2012). The prevalence of elbow joint pain during the past 30 days was higher among women; 6.0% on the right and 4.5% on the left compared to men with 4.0% and 3.4% respectively. The prevalence of self-reported wrist joint pain and finger joint pain during the preceding month was slightly higher on the right side than the left both in men and women. The prevalence for wrist joint and finger joint pain was at least two-fold in women compared with men, (wrist joint; 9.7% on the right and 8.9% on the left in women and 4.8% and 4.2% in men, finger joint; 13.1% on the right and 11.9% on the left compared to men with 5.8% and 5.3%) (Kaila-Kangas 2007). The prevalence of hip pain and knee pain increased with age in both genders. The age-adjusted prevalence of self-reported hip pain during the past month was 7.9% in men and 11.5% in women (Kaila-Kangas 2007). The age-adjusted prevalence of knee pain during the past 30 days was 28.8% in men and 32.7% in women (Viikari-Juntura et al. 2012).

According to the Finnish health survey (Kaila-Kangas 2007), chronic low back syndrome was diagnosed in 11% of subjects in both genders. Chronic neck syndrome was diagnosed in 7.3% of the women and in 5.5% of the men. Chronic shoulder pain was diagnosed in the right shoulder for 5.3% of the subjects and in the left shoulder for 3.2% of the subjects. Lateral epicondylitis was diagnosed in 1.1%, with 0.7% on the right and 0.5% on the left side. Carpal tunnel syndrome was diagnosed in 3.8% of the subjects with 2.4% on the right side and 2.5% on the left side. Carpal tunnel syndrome was more common in women compared to men as the women/ men ratio is 3:1. (Kaila-Kangas 2007)

The age-adjusted prevalence of clinically diagnosed hip osteoarthritis (OA) was 5.7% in men and 4.6% in women. The age-adjusted prevalence of clinically diagnosed knee OA was 6.1% in men and 8.0% in women. Both hip and knee OA are associated with age. Only a few in the age group 30-44 years have OA. In the age group 85 years or over 40% of men have hip OA and 44% have knee OA. Of women 36% have hip OA and 25% have knee OA. (Kaila-Kangas 2007)

2.1.7 From biomedical to bio-psycho-social model of pain

The traditional biomedical models of clinical medicine had embraced a dualistic viewpoint, which was mainly focused on pathophysiology and other biological aspects of disease and separated the mind and body as functioning independently like a machine as Descartes proposed in the 16th century (Engel 1977). Even in the 1980s pain was categorized as 'organic' or 'psychic'. Furthermore, the biomedical model is tightly linked to linear cause-effect thinking, where the intensity of pain is thought to have a linear and direct relationship to tissue damage or activity of a disease. Symptoms have been seen as a cause of the pathophysiology, which are hoped to be identified by medical examinations such as X-RAY or MRI and which can be treated or resolved with drugs, specific treatment targeted to pathophysiology or operation. Especially degenerative changes are present in high proportions of asymptomatic individuals increasing with age. Many imaging-based degenerative features are likely part of normal aging and unassociated with pain (Brinjikji et al. 2015). Although the biomedical actions have resolved many medical problems, there is a large number conditions where the specific cause remains unclear. In brief, the biomedical model of pain is very 'narrow' and insufficient to identify a large number of complaints (Engel 1977).

The physiological background of the bio-psycho-social model of pain lies on the gate-control theory (Melzack and Wall 1965). By applying Skinner's principles of operant conditioning (1953) and the gate-control theory, the goal of treatment was shifted from the reduction of pain intensity towards the impact of pain on life and the restoration of functional behaviour (Fordvce 1982). The bio-psycho-social model of pain took a step forward by widening the perspective from biological factors to psychological and social factors and began to see pain and suffering as complex and multifactorial phenomena (Gatchel et al. 2007). The bio-psycho-social model focuses on both disease and illness, with illness being viewed as the interaction of biological, psychological, and social factors (Crombez et al. 2012). According to (Gatchel et al. 2007), disease refers to a disturbance of body structures or organ systems caused by anatomical, pathological, or physiological changes and illness is seen as a patient's and his or her family members' subjective experience of a disease and how they cope with the disease and disability. The bio-psycho-social model has proven particularly useful in extending our knowledge about pain in cases where pain persists in the absence of tissue damage or organic pathology (Gatchel et al. 2007).

2.2 FEAR-AVOIDANCE MODEL OF PAIN (FAM)

The terms fear, anxiety and avoidance have a long history in medical literature. Aristotle was one of the first who linked pain with fear: 'Let fear, then, be a kind of pain or disturbance resulting from imagination of impending danger, either destructive or painful' (Aristotle 2004). The term fear-avoidance model was first by introduced by Lethem et al. (1983). They presented fear and pain to be associated with behaviour through avoidance learning. Fear-avoidance conditioning was suggested by Vlaeyen and Linton (2000) as a process where a classical component and an operant component can be distinguished.

The fear-avoidance model (FAM) was suggested by Vlaeyen et al. (1995b) as a cognitive-behavioural model of fear of movement/(re)injury for patients with low back pain. The resulting vicious circle: 'pain' – 'fear of movement/(reinjury)' – 'avoidance' – 'disability/disuse/depression' – 'pain' was presented as a cyclic chain of events. Later Vlaeyen and Linton (2000) updated the model further adding 'catastrophizing' to the vicious circle and rephrasing 'fear of movement' by 'pain-related fear' and further adding 'hypervigilance' alongside 'avoidance'. Asmudson et al. (2004) differentiated between fear and anxiety and they added an anxiety pathway to the model. Vlaeyen and Linton (2012) further supplemented the model by adding an explanation on how pain-related fear occurs in the first place via learning and motivational processes.

The FAM suggests (Figure 1) the mechanism by which patients' interpretation about pain may contribute to the maintenance of chronic pain and disability. When pain can be confronted and considered as nonthreatening, patients will return back to the physical activities of daily life. Those patients can correct their expectations about pain and keep them in line with their actual experiences promoting functional recovery (Crombez et al. 2002, Trost et al. 2008).

Some patients may become trapped in a vicious circle of chronic disability and suffering regardless of the origin of acute pain. The vicious circle results in a behavioural pattern that is not in synchrony with the underlying biomedical pathology, and further leads to an exaggerated perception of pain (Philips 1987), and thus, pain-related fear can be more disabling than pain itself (Vlaeyen et al. 1995a). Catastrophic cognitions may occur if a patient erroneously interprets pain as a sign of serious injury or pathology or if a patient has painful experiences that are worsened during movement or activities. The patients who catastrophize are more likely to be fearful (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b). It has shown that catastrophizing influences pain reports through supraspinal mechanisms (memory, report bias, attention) and do not affect the transmission of spinal nociceptive signals (Rhudy et al. 2009). Catastrophizing leads to an excessive fear of pain and injury that gradually extends to a fear of physical movement so that people will avoid those physical activities that are presumed to worsen their problem. This leads to increased avoidance of physical activities and in the long run to disuse, depression and increased disability (Philips 1987, Council et al. 1988).

Catastrophic thinking refers to the process where pain is interpreted as being extremely threatening (Crombez et al. 1998). Catastrophizing has been shown to be associated with pain disability in pain patients (Peters et al. 2005, Sullivan et al. 2005), as well as in the general population (Severeijns et al. 2004). Catastrophizing is associated with disability and pain intensity in various pain problems (Severeijns et al. 2001, Turner et al. 2002, Peters et al. 2005, Sullivan et al. 2005). The initial level of catastrophizing has been demonstrated to be associated with higher pain intensity in prospective studies (Sullivan et al. 1995, Vlaeyen et al. 2004, Pavlin et al. 2005) and furthermore, in study a by Leeuw et al. (2007a), catastrophizing was found to predict fear of movement at six month follow-up, even after accounting for other contributing variables such as initial levels of fear of movement.

Both depression and disuse are known to be associated with decreasing pain tolerance levels and hence promoting painful experiences (Romano and Turner 1985, McQuade et al. 1988). In addition, some patient tends to scan their bodies almost continuously for putative signs of pain or injury. This selection of pain related information is introduced in the model as 'hypervigilance'. Together with avoidance, hypervigilance makes sense in the short-term as they provide time to heal thus protecting the individual. In the short term, avoidance is rewarding as pain often diminishes by avoiding physical activities and resting. However, in the long term that may lead to deconditioning and furthermore to increased pain and disability and decreased levels of physical activity and further social isolation (Crombez et al. 2012).

When pain is perceived as nonthreatening, recovery is likely to happen after a period of diminished physical activities. Interpreting pain as threatening (pain catastrophizing) may give raise to pain-related fear. This leads further to avoidance behaviours and hypervigilance and in the long run to disability, disuse and depression. This makes patients more vulnerable to further pain and fuels the vicious circle of increasing fear and avoidance. Pain catastrophizing is associated with negative affectivity and threatening illness information.



Figure 1. The fear-avoidance model (Vlaeyen and Linton 2000).

If pain, possibly caused by an injury, is interpreted as threatening (pain catastrophizing), pain-related fear evolves. This leads to avoidance behaviors, and hypervigilance to bodily sensations followed by disability, disuse and depression. The latter will maintain the pain experiences thereby fueling the vicious circle of increasing fear and avoidance. In non-catastrophizing patients, no pain-related fear and rapid confrontation with daily activities is likely to occur, leading to fast recovery. Pain catastrophizing is assumed to be also influenced by negative affectivity and threatening illness information.

Reproduced with permission of Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc

2.3 KINESIOPHOBIA, FEAR OF MOVEMENT, FEAR-AVOIDANCE BELIEFS AND PAIN RELATED FEAR

Lundberg et al. (2011a) have stressed that in the literature regarding the FAM, constructs of kinesiophobia, fear of movement, fear-avoidance beliefs and pain related fear have been used interchangeably to describe the complex association of pain and fear, although the above mention terms are not synonyms. The term kinesiophobia was introduced by Kori et al. (1990) who defined it as a condition in which a patient has 'an excessive, irrational, and debilitating fear of physical movement and activity from a feeling of vulnerability to painful injury or reinjury'. They pointed out the phobic nature of fear of pain and avoidance. The construct 'Fear of movement' was introduced by (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b) and defined as 'a specific fear of movement and physical activity that is (wrongfully) assumed to cause reinjury'. In the fear-avoidance-model fear of movement is recognized as a factor which can maintain a vicious circle of pain and disability (Leeuw et al. 2007b). However, Lundberg et al. (2011a) could not identify any instrument to measure the construct of 'fear of movement'. The constructs 'kinesiophobia' and

'fear of movement' are quite closely related to each other and the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK) has also been used as a measure of fear of movement (Vlaeyen et al. 1995a, Vlaeyen et al. 2002).

The construct 'fear-avoidance beliefs' can be measured by the Fear-avoidance beliefs questionnaire (FABQ) (Waddell et al. 1993). The construct 'pain-related fear' incorporates 'fear of pain', 'fear of injury', 'fear of physical activity' (Asmundson and Taylor 1996) and can be assessed by the Fear of pain questionnaire (FPQ) (McNeil et al. 1986) or by the Pain anxiety symptoms scale (PASS) (McCracken et al. 1992). However, neither Lethem (1983) when describing association between fear and pain nor the above-mentioned authors, have offered conceptual definitions for the questionnaires.

Lundberg et al. (2011a) concluded in their critical review that for most FAM related questionnaires, the conceptual model of the questionnaire's construct was poorly described. The criticism is based on the weaknesses of questionnaire's reliability and especially validity. Comparison of different questionnaires and different versions of same questionnaire is complicated due to unequal evaluation methods of psychometric properties and the fact that there are currently no 'golden standards' of measure for the constructs of FAM. Moreover, based on weak construct validity it is doubted whether by the available measures it can currently be identied who is actually fearful.

2.3.1 Definitions of fear, phobia and anxiety

Fear refers to an emotional reaction to a specific, identifiable and immediate danger (Rhudy and Meagher 2000). It initiates a protective survival mechanism by activating the fight or flight behaviours (Lang et al. 2000, Davis 2006). Through classic conditioning, after the experience of a low back pain episode, anticipated or actual exposure to the same kind of experience may bring up a fear response. Observing others with low back pain may lead to the learning of fear through vicarious exposure (Askew and Field 2007). Individual response when exposed to fearful stimuli may depend on contextual variables. Fearful stimuli may not cause as much avoidance in a safe environment, such as being surrounded by other people, whereas when being alone with the same stimuli, excessive protective behaviours may occur. Such avoidance behaviours may reduce the level of fear in the short term, but in the long term, fear may strengthen (Crombez et al. 2012).

Phobia is an intense and irrational fear of something that poses little or no real danger (Rachman 2004). Phobias are common and can develop of virtually anything at any age. In most of phobic situations, one realizes that the feeling of fear is unreasonable, but they cannot however control their feelings which are by and large, automatic and overwhelming.

Anxiety resembles fear, but is a more future-orientated cognitive-affective state without a clear focus (McNaughton and Gray 2000, Rhudy and Meagher 2000). The threat is not detected but is anticipated, so anxiety is associated with preventive behaviours such as catastrophic thinking and hypervigilance. Hypervigilance refers to a situation where and individual monitors the environment for potential sources of threat and then selectively follows the threat-related rather than neutral stimuli (Eysenck 1992). Hypervigilance may reduce anxiety in the short term, but in the long run, it may be counterproductive (Crombez et al. 2012). The theoretical distinction between fear, anxiety and phobia is correct, but in a clinical context these terms frequently used interchangeably in regard to pain. Fear, anxiety and phobia can be caused by external signs of danger or by internal threats and furthermore, they all are accompanied by similar reactions e.g. muscle tension or pounding of the heart (Rachman 2004).

2.3.2 Assessment of fear of movement

The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK) was introduced by Miller et al. (1991) in order to discriminate between non-excessive fear and anxiety among patients with persistent musculoskeletal pain. It should be noted that the TSK was introduced prior to the fear-avoidance model. The TSK has become one of the most frequently employed measures for assessing pain-related fear. It has been translated into Dutch (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b), French (French et al. 2002), Swedish (Lundberg et al. 2004, Bunketorp et al. 2005), Norwegian (Damsgard et al. 2007), Portuguese (Siqueira et al. 2007), Italian (Monticone et al. 2010), Spanish (Gomez-Perez et al. 2011), Chinese (Wong et al. 2010), Persian (Askary-Ashtiani et al. 2014) and German (Rusu et al. 2014). The original version consists of 17 items, in which each item has a fourpoint Likert scale with the following alternatives: strongly disagree, disagree, agree and strongly agree. After inverting items 4, 8, 12, and 16, a sum score is calculated. The range of the score is from 17 to 68, with a higher number indicating greater fear of movement.

A number of different versions of the TSK, with 4, 11, 12, 13 and 17 items, have been presented since the original scale was published (Lundberg et al. 2009). Lundberg et al. (2009) also pointed out that in eight out of the eleven different factor solutions for the TSK the reversed items have been removed due to their low factor loadings. Different factor solutions of the TSK have been found with a number of factors ranging from one to five (Lundberg et al. 2009), which suggests that the found factor solutions are highly dependent on the population studied. The observed variability might be due to the applied statistical methods and sample

sizes across studies. Performing factor analyses with populations of less than 200-300 subjects may lead to difficulty in interpretation and in generalizing results (Tabachnick and Fidell 2006).

The two-factor model by Clark et al. (1996) (13 items) has shown a better fit compared to the one-factor model and the four-factor model (Heuts et al. 2004, Woby et al. 2005, French et al. 2007). Clark's two-factor model has been found to be invariant across patients with low back pain and patients with fibromyalgia (Goubert et al. 2004, Roelofs et al. 2004). Recent studies (Tkachuk and Harris 2012, Walton and Elliott 2013, Rusu et al. 2014) have provided support for the two-factor model of the TSK-11, which is based on studies by Woby et al. (2005) and (Roelofs et al. 2007). This model has been found to be invariant across pain diagnoses and countries (Roelofs et al. 2007, Roelofs et al. 2011).

These two factors are named as 'somatic focus' and 'activity avoidance' although there is variation across studies regarding the items included into factors. The twofactor model has been recently supported in a mixed method analysis by (Bunzli et al. 2014). They identified 'damage beliefs' and 'suffering/functional loss' groups. As expected the 'damage beliefs' group agreed more strongly with the somatic focus items. The 'Suffering/functional loss' group fails to discriminate between the two factors.

High scores on the TSK have been found to be associated with pain severity (Sullivan et al. 2009), pain duration (Picavet et al. 2002) and disability in patients with low back pain (Crombez et al. 1999, Picavet et al. 2002). Wideman et al. (2009) have shown that reductions in catastrophizing and the TSK scores predict reductions in disability. The smallest detectable change in the TSK has been found to be 9.2 points (Ostelo et al. 2007). In addition, the clinically meaningful change in the level of kinesiophobia has been determined to be a 4-point difference in TSK-11 scores (Woby et al. 2005). Overall, the TSK is the oldest and still the most frequently applied evaluation tool for fear of movement in research and clinical work.

2.3.3 ICF and the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

The aim of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) is to provide a framework for the description of health and health-related states (WHO 2001). The terms health domains and health-related domains are used in order to describe all aspects of health and health-relevant components of well-being. The ICF has two parts, each with two components. Part 1) consists of functioning and disability with the components a) body functions and structures, b) activities and participation. Part 2), contextual factors, has the components c) environmental factors and d) personal factors. The latter are not classified in the ICF due to large social and cultural variance (WHO 2001). Interactions between the components of the ICF are presented in figure 2.



Figure 2. Interaction between the components of the ICF (WHO 2001).

The ICF can serve as a solid theoretical background for conceptualizing each of the assessment instruments and measurement tools used for the assessment of individual functioning or disability. Each measure can be classified in relation to the ICF thus providing construct validity to the measure. This puts assessment in context and provides the focus for selecting relevant aspects of functioning and disability for assessment.

Lundberg et al. (2011a) suggests that the TSK is the best available method to measure 'kinesiophobia', although the conceptual model of the questionnaire's construct was poorly described. As the focus of the present research project was to study fear of movement and the measurement properties of the TSK, only the TSK and not all the FAM related measures were classified into ICF codes in order to study validity of the TSK. There are limitations regarding the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia as an ICF-classification. In terms of the ICF, a two-level classification can be made for pain and fear. Pain can be classified as body functions, more specifically to sensory functions and pain (ICF code b280). Respectively, fear can also be classified as emotional functions (ICF code b152). However, as subjective and personal factors are not classified in the ICF, specific coding of the TSK items is not possible.

2.4 PAIN BEHAVIOUR

Loeser & Fordyce (1983) have defined pain behaviours as 'any and all outputs of the individual that a reasonable observer would characterise as suggesting pain. Such as (but not limited to) posture, facial expression, verbalising, lying down, taking medicines, seeking medical assistance and receiving compensation'. These behaviours are real and are affected by many actual expected factors. And furthermore, they can be quantified by others. Existence of nociception, pain and suffering can be inferred from pain behaviours, history and physical examination (Loeser and Melzack 1999).

Initial physiotherapy assessment of chronic low back pain patients involves an assessment of self-reported disability, physical impairment and current physical capacity using simple functional tasks (Harding et al. 1994, Simmonds et al. 1998). During such assessment, and in particular during the functional capacity evaluation, patients frequently demonstrate a variety of pain associated behaviours (Watson and Poulter 1997). Furthermore, erratic performance of clinical assessment variables has been demonstrated to be influenced by psychological and behavioural factors (Pope et al. 1980, Watson 1999b).

Overt pain behaviours are observable in individuals in pain. Alterations in posture, limping and the demonstration of guarded movements are obvious examples of overt pain behaviours. Others include facial grimacing, rubbing or touching the affected area and groaning or sighing (Keefe et al. 1987). Observational measures often depend on the observation of the subject over a period of time by trained observers (Richards et al. 1982, Vlaeyen et al. 1987). These rely on the identification, by trained observers, of pain behaviours in a number of categories such as mobility, posture, verbal pain report, and non-verbal pain report. These have usually been used in an in-patient setting and observations are taken through the course of a day. This approach is time consuming and requires training large numbers of personnel (Vlaeyen et al. 1987) and may be inappropriate for many clinical settings.

A videotaped behavioural observation measure was developed by Keefe & Block (1982) which relies on the observation of overt pain behaviours such as grimacing, limping and rubbing the affected area. This method has been used in a wide variety of painful conditions (McDaniel et al. 1986, Keefe et al. 1987, Baumstark et al. 1993) and has demonstrated an excellent (agreement 93-99%) level of reliability (Keefe and Block 1982). However, this video rating system and other observational measures have been criticised for not presenting the subject with functional tasks. Patients may only demonstrate pain behaviour during the execution of a task that they perceive as potentially painful or dangerous (Keefe and Dunsmore 1992). Therefore, task-orientated behavioural analyses, where subjects perform a number of everyday activities and specific tasks have been developed (Watson and Poulter 1997). An acceptable (kappa=0.40-0.83, ICC=0.99, agreement 89-97%) level of intra and inter-observer reliability has been demonstrated and the total scores were highly correlated with other pain behaviour measures, disability and fear/avoidance beliefs in patients with low back pain (Jensen et al. 1989, Watson and Poulter 1997), non-cancer chronic pain (McCahon et al. 2005) and multiple sclerosis (Cook et al. 2013).

2.5 AVOIDANCE BEHAVIOUR AND CONSEQUENCES OF AVOIDANCE

The fear-avoidance model predicts that fear of movement leads to avoidance behaviour and avoidance is suggested as the most prominent component of pain behaviour (Philips 1987). In acute pain, avoidance behaviour is adaptive (Philips 1987) as it serves an appropriate protective function for tissues by aiding healing. In a chronic pain state, avoidance behaviour is learned and by nature maladaptive due to pain-related fear (Vlaeyen and Linton 2000).

It has been demonstrated that individuals showing more avoidance were more afraid of pain, more afraid of (re)injury and reported more disability than those classified as confronters (Crombez et al. 1998) and that a low level of physical activity in patients with back pain is associated with a high level of fear-avoidance beliefs and catastrophizing (Elfving et al. 2007). In their review, Zale et al. (2013) concluded that the development and maintaining of chronic pain and pain-related disability may be influenced by pain-related fear. In addition, the relationship between pain-related fear and disability is relative large and it is not moderated by pain intensity or duration. Further, pain-related fear has been shown to be associated with reduced physical performance and pain expectancy (Vlaeyen and Linton 2000). Fear of general physical activity is a stronger predictor of pain-related disability than fear of work related-activities (Zale et al. 2013). Long lasting avoidance and physical inactivity have many negative consequences. They may lead to the decrease of physical performance, limitations on social interaction, more disability and depression.

Earlier studies have demonstrated that fear of movement and fear of (re)injury are better predictors of functional limitations than biomedical parameters (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2006a). Pain-related fear predicts behavioural performance in trunk extension, flexion and weight-lifting tasks when filtering out the effects of pain intensity (Crombez et al. 1999), physical functioning and disability (Vlaeyen et al. 1995a, Gheldof et al. 2006).

In earlier literature regarding pain-related fear the role of pain intensity is seen as a secondary factor in avoidance behaviour or disability (Vlaeyen and Linton 2000). Crombez et al. (1999) have stated that 'pain-related fear is more disabling than pain itself.' However, there is a growing body of evidence that high pain intensity is in itself a threatening experience that may contribute avoidance behaviour (Eccleston and Crombez 1999) and that pain has shown be strongly related to functional disability during the acute stage of LBP (Sieben et al. 2005b, Gheldof et al. 2006) and that future disability was best predicted by previous LBP history and pain intensity (Sieben et al. 2005a). Also, during chronic stages of pain the association between pain and disability may be more important than previously suggested (Mannion et al. 2001, Boersma and Linton 2005, Peters et al. 2005, Leeuw et al. 2007b). In their study, Gheldof et al. (2010) concluded that pain-related fear is rather a consequence than an antecedent of pain severity.

From the FAM it can be predicted that reductions in pain-related fear may improve pain-related disability. It has been shown that a low level of physical activity in patients with back pain is associated with a high level of fear-avoidance beliefs (Elfving et al. 2007), that high fear-avoiders benefit more from an exercise program in terms of disability (Klaber Moffett et al. 2004), and that kinesiophobia decreases during an intensive physical therapy program in chronic low back pain (Kernan and Rainville 2007). And furthermore, cognitive-behavioural therapy decreases pain-related fear among patients with chronic pain (Bailey et al. 2010).

Patients with chronic low back pain related disability have been shown to have a lower level of aerobic fitness. Fear avoidance model factors, e.g. the TSK subscales, somatic focus, activity avoidance, and catastrophizing, were not associated with aerobic fitness. However, aerobic fitness was associated with the level of leisure time physical activity (Smeets et al. 2009). Low back pain patients with high pain related fear demonstrated about half of the peak force of abdominal muscles during isometric exertion compared to patients with low pain related fear suggesting specific activity avoidance to flexion (Thomas et al. 2008). From a therapeutical point of view an interesting note by Keller et al. (2008) was that at a 12 month follow-up after receiving lumbar fusion or cognitive-behavioural therapy (Brox et al. 2006) and exercises (Brox et al. 2003), change in muscle strength was not associated with change in cross-sectional area or density. Almost half of the change of muscle strength was explained by change in pain, change in fear-avoidance beliefs, change in self-efficacy for pain and treatment (cognitive behavioural therapy and exercises) suggesting the central role of pain and treatment in patients with low back pain.

High levels of fear avoidance beliefs have been demonstrated to have a relationship with increased levels of disability (Cook et al. 2006, Leeuw et al. 2007b). In particular, fear of movement is significantly associated with disability in chronic low back pain (Schiphorst Preuper et al. 2008). In addition to fear of movement, pain intensity and depression predicts disability in both patients with specific and nonspecific CLBP explaining 67% of disability related variance (Lundberg et al. 2011b). Furthermore, catastrophizing and pain-related fear are important predictors of present pain intensity and disability in patients with low back pain (Peters et al. 2005, Lundberg et al. 2011b).

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The general aim of this study was to learn more about fear of movement: how it can be evaluated, its prevalence in Finland and association to pain behaviour and physical activity. For these general aims four specific aims were set:

- 1. To develop a new, reliable assessment of pain behaviour performed during the execution of a range of functional assessment measures that could be carried out by physiotherapists and to investigate the relationship between pain behaviour, distress, physical function and impairment (I).
- 2. To study the association between fear of movement and physical activity and to study the association of change of fear of movement and physical activity among chronic pain patients attending a multi-disciplinary bio-psycho-social pain management program (II).
- 3. To estimate the internal consistency, test-retest reliability and comparability of paper and computer versions of the Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) among chronic pain patients and to study patients' personal experiences of completing both versions of the TSK-FIN and preferences between these two methods of collecting data (III).
- 4. To investigate fear of movement among the general population and create reference values in the Finnish general population, to estimate the prevalence of high kinesiophobia in Finnish men and women; and to examine the association between fear of movement and leisure-time physical activity and the impact of co-morbidities on fear of movement (IV).

4 MATERIAL AND METHODS

4.1 STUDY POPULATIONS

Study I

Fifty-one patients (24 men and 27 women, mean age 44.6 years, SD 8.1) were referred by the Social Insurance Institute (SII) to the chronic pain management programme at ORTON Rehabilitation Centre in Helsinki, Finland. The pain management programme was developed for patients who have serious or prolonged low back problems.

For the initial reliability study, 18 subjects who were consecutive referrals with chronic pain were assessed. The subjects were observed performing the following actions: sitting; a timed 5 minute walk; lying down prone on the floor and rolling over 360° and standing up; bending and reaching; filling, lifting and carrying a box of weights; stair climbing. Two observers assessed the videotapes on two separate occasions with approximately four weeks between ratings. The observers were required to identify the occurrence of pain behaviours on the videotapes. The occurrence of the following behaviours were recorded : distorted gait, audible pain behaviour (groaning, sighing), facial grimacing, touching or holding the affected body part, stopping or resting, verbal complaints about pain, support and leaning, adopting a guarding tense stiff posture.

Inter- and intra-observer reliability over the 4-week period was established on these data. A second group of 33 subjects was assessed in exactly the same way and these data were analysed to identify the relationship between pain, pain behaviour, physical function and disability. There were no significant differences among the groups. The subjects completed a battery of physical performance tests including range of spinal motion repetitive flexion, repetitive arching, repetitive squatting and hand-grip strength.

Study II

Altogether 134 consecutive patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain referred by the SII to the inpatient pain management program or some other individual rehabilitation program between the years 2005 and 2006 at Orton Rehabilitation Centre, were recruited. None of the patients declined to participate. Due to overlapping activities in the rehabilitation programme (e.g. individual meetings with rehabilitation experts), complete data was received for 94 patients. The main goal of the pain management and individual rehabilitation program was for the patients to regain their overall ability to function. Other goals included mitigating of the inconvenience of pain and strengthening their own means of survival. The group rehabilitation design consisted of physical and functional exercises, an evaluation of the social situation, a psychological assessment of pain-related stress factors and personal pain management training. The program was conducted by a multidisciplinary rehabilitation team, including a physician, psychologist, social worker, two physiotherapists and an occupational therapist.

The exclusion criteria of the pain management program were primary fibromyalgia and major psychiatric disorders. Prior the pain management program the pain problem had been carefully examined to identify conditions for specific treatment by a specialist in the pain clinic of Helsinki University Hospital. The pain and other medication of the patients had also been planned and adjusted there according to the best practices.

All patients participated in the routine rehabilitation and they volunteered to participate in the study and gave their informed consent. The patients did not get any compensation for participating in the rehabilitation program.

Study III

The sample comprised 93 chronic musculoskeletal pain patients who had been referred to a pain management program at ORTON Rehabilitation Centre by specialists at Helsinki University Hospital between 2003 and 2007. The exclusion criteria were primary fibromyalgia and a diagnosed psychiatric disorder. The pain problem of the patients had been thoroughly examined by an anaesthesiologist, neurologist or specialist of physical and rehabilitation medicine at the pain clinic of Helsinki University Hospital in order to identify conditions for specific treatment. Pain medication and other conditions had been optimized. The purpose of the pain management program was to increase the functional capacity of the patients after the medical treatment.

All patients participated in the routine pain management program and all measurements were part of the rehabilitation. SII both funded the rehabilitation services of the patients and provided income security (rehabilitation allowance) during participation in the rehabilitation. The patients did not get any extra compensation for participation in the rehabilitation.

The ethics committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa and the review board of the ORTON Research Institute approved the study protocol. All patients gave their informed consent for participation in the study.

Study IV

The study was part of the National FINRISK Study 2007 survey. The FINRISK 2007 Study was carried out in six areas in Finland: the cities of Helsinki and Vantaa, the areas of Turku and Loimaa, and the provinces of North Savo, North Karelia, Oulu,

and Lapland. A random sample from the Finnish population register consisting in total of 11 953 persons in the age group 25-74 stratified by area, sex and 10-year age groups was obtained for the study. The survey protocol followed the WHO MONICA protocol (WHO 1998) closely and the later recommendations of the European Health Risk Monitoring Project (Tolonen et al. 2002).

The kinesiophobia study was carried in the Turku and Loimaa area. The sample included 1714 participants, and 1054 (61%) completed the TSK-FIN questionnaire. After excluding 10 subjects with no TSK data and 10 subjects with incomplete TSK data, the final study population comprised 455 men and 579 women. The coordinating ethics committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa approved the study protocol, and each participant gave a written informed consent.

4.2 MEASUREMENTS

Disability. Self-report of disability was assessed using the Finnish versions of the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI) (Grönblad et al. 1993). The ODI contains 10 items: pain intensity, personal hygiene, lifting, walking, sitting, standing, sleeping, sexual activity, social activity and travelling. Each item is scored on a 6-point scale, where 0 represents no limitation and 5 represents maximal limitation. From this, a percentage score (O-10O) is calculated, with a higher score indicating greater disability. The Finnish version of the ODI has been found to be reliable and valid (Pekkanen et al. 2011).

Pain intensity. The average pain intensity during the past week on a 0–100mm was assessed by a visual analogue scale (VAS) ranging from "no pain" to "worst possible pain". The VAS has been widely used and has shown an acceptable reliability (Williamson and Hoggart 2005).

Depression was assessed in study I using the modified Zung depression index, which consists of 23 items with four response options [rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day per week), some or little of the time (1-2 days per week), a moderate amount of the time (3-4 days per week), or most of the time (5-7 days per week)]. Scores may range from 0 to 69, with higher scores indicating a greater risk of depression. The cut point for depression is a modified Zung score of 34 or higher (Main et al. 1992).

In study II, depressive symptoms were assessed using the 21-item Beck Depression Inventory, version II, (BDI-II) (Beck and Beamesderfer 1974). The 21 items are scored 0-3, the total ranging from 0 to 63. According to the reference levels given in the BDI-manual, 0-13 equals minor depression, 14-19 mild depression,

20–28 moderate depression, and 29–63 severe depression. The Finnish version has shown acceptable levels of reliability and validity (Mattlar et al. 1988).

Somatic perception was assessed using the modified somatic perception questionnaire (MSPQ), which consists of 13 items reflecting heightened autonomic or somatic awareness. Such dysregulation may also be termed "somatic anxiety" or "somatization." There are four response options for each item: (not at all; a little, slightly; a great deal, quite a bit; or extremely, could not have been worse). The MSPQ scores may range from 0 to 39, with higher scores indicating a greater risk of somatization. The cut point for somatization is an MSPQ score of 12 or higher (Main 1983).

Kinesiophobia/Fear of (re)injury was assessed using the Tampa scale for kinesiophobia (TSK) (Kori et al. 1990). TSK is a 17-item questionnaire, with four possible responses for each item (strongly disagree, disagree, agree and strongly agree). After inverting items 4, 8, 12, and 16, a sum-score is calculated. The range of score is 17–68, with a higher number indicating greater fear of movement. In studies II-IV, The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) was used to assess fear of movement/(re)injury. The original English version (Kori et al. 1990) was translated into Finnish and then translated back into English by authorized translators. The English versions were then compared, and both the translators and the original author of the article resolved differences via the consensus procedure.

The psychometric properties of the TSK have been tested widely in different patient populations. Its internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha, α) has been found to be acceptable within the general population (α =0.78-0.79) (Houben et al. 2005) and in patients with acute low back pain (α =0.70-0.76) (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003a, Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003b), chronic low back pain (α =0.73-0.80) (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b, Goubert et al. 2004, Woby et al. 2005, Monticone et al. 2010, Rusu et al. 2014), fibromyalgia (α =0.71-0.78) (Goubert et al. 2004, Burwinkle et al. 2005) and chronic fatigue syndrome (α =0.68-0.80) (Silver et al. 2002, Nijs et al. 2004, Nijs and Thielemans 2008), as well as among mixed acute pain population (α =0.81) (Gomez-Perez et al. 2011) and chronic pain populations (α =0.79) (Cohen et al. 2003, Gomez-Perez et al. 2011), neck pain (α =0.77-0.89) (Cleland et al. 2008, Askary-Ashtiani et al. 2014) and in older people (α =0.74-0.87) (Larsson et al. 2014).

The test-retest reliability of the scale has been acceptable in patients with acute low back pain (R=0.78) (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003a), chronic low back pain (ICC=0.91-0.96, R=0.91) (Lundberg et al. 2004, Woby et al. 2005, Monticone et al. 2010), mechanical neck pain (ICC=0.80) (Cleland et al. 2008) Askary-Ashtiani et al. 2014, shoulder pain (ICC=0.84) (Mintken et al. 2010) chronic fatigue syndrome (ICC=0.83-0.91) (Nijs and Thielemans 2008) and in older people (ICC=0.75) (Larsson et al. 2014). The validity of the TSK has been demonstrated within the general population (Houben et al. 2005) and in patients with acute low back pain (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003a), chronic low back pain (Lundberg et al. 2004, Woby et al. 2005, Monticone et al. 2010, Rusu et al. 2014), neck pain (Cleland et al. 2008) (Askary-Ashtiani et al. 2014), chronic fatigue syndrome (Silver et al. 2002, Nijs et al. 2004), fibromyalgia (Burwinkle et al. 2005), shoulder pain (Mintken et al. 2010) and temporomandibular disorders (Visscher et al. 2010), among mixed acute and chronic pain populations (Gomez-Perez et al. 2011) as well as after spinal surgery (Archer et al. 2014) and in older people with chronic pain (Larsson et al. 2014).

For the purpose of study II, the patients were classified into tertiles based on distribution of the TSK-FIN in the study population. The TSK tertile I (low kinesiophobia, range 17–33) consists of 30 subjects, the II tertile (medium kinesiophobia, range 34–40) consists of 29 subjects and the III tertile (high kinesiophobia, range 41–68) consists of 34 subjects. The estimates of cut-off points for the TSK in study IV were based on studies by Vlaeyen et al. (1995a) and Lundberg et al. (2004). A TSK value greater than 37 as a cut-off point for high fear of movement was originally proposed by Vlaeyen et al. (1995b). Later, Lundberg et al. (2004) concluded that a TSK value greater than about 40 is an indication of high fear of movement.

Computer use and preferred method in future Subjects were asked how often they used a computer each week, with the possible responses of never, once a week, two to three times a week, four to five times a week or daily. Subjects were also asked which data collection method they would prefer to use in the future, with the possible responses of paper, computer or no preference. The ease of use of both methods was evaluated using a five-point scale (very difficult, somewhat difficult, not difficult or easy, somewhat easy and very easy).

Physical activity. InstudyII, LTPA was measured according to the recommendations by Sallis et al. (1985), using a questionnaire that included items for frequency and intensity of average number of LTPA bouts, which last at least 20–30 min. Frequency was measured by means of multiple-choice questions that assessed the number of physical activity sessions on a 5-level scale. Intensity was assessed with a multiple choice question in which subjects indicated the type of LTPA on a 4-level scale. The LTPA index was used for the final analysis, taking into account both the frequency and intensity of LTPA according to the MET-values (1 MET = 1 metabolic equivalent = 1 kcal/kg/h). One MET (1 kcal/kg/h) is consumed when reading or watching TV, 4 METs (4 kcal/kg/h) when walking, riding a bike or doing light gardening, 7.5 METs (7.5 kcal/kg/h) when jogging, cross-country skiing, swimming or playing ball games, and 12 METs (12 kcal/kg/h) when training for competitive sports such as

running or cross-country skiing (Sallis et al. 1985). The LTPA index is calculated by multiplying the weekly frequency of LTPA sessions by the MET-value of the intensity of LTPA. The range of the index is from 0 to 60. A value of 60 represents a daily (computed as 5 times per week) LTPA of the highest intensity. LTPA has proven to be a reliable and valid estimator of cardio-respiratory fitness (Tuero et al. 2001). LTPA has been shown to be associated with a lower risk of overweight, hypertension, musculoskeletal disorders (Pihl et al. 2002) and cardiovascular risk (Sofi et al. 2007) and improved quality of life (Vuillemin et al. 2005).

In study IV, the level of leisure-time physical activity was measured with the question: "How much do you exercise and strain yourself physically in your leisure time?" The response options were as follows: (1) In my leisure time, I read, watch TV and do other activities where I do not move much and do not strain myself physically; (2) In my leisure time, I walk, cycle and move in other ways at least 4 h per week; (3) In my leisure time, I exercise at least 3 h per week, and; (4) In my leisure time, I practice regularly several times per week for competition. Response option (1) was considered the "low" category, response option, (2) was considered the "medium" category, and response options (3) and (4) were merged into the "high" category. This instrument has shown good internal validity for measuring all-cause and cardiovascular mortality (Tuero et al. 2001).

Ouestionnaires completed at the time of admission to the rehabilitation programme provided baseline and clinical data (studies I-III), before any interventions. In study II, six-month follow-up data was completed during the last 2 days of the third phase of the pain management programme and follow-up data at 12 months was collected via a postal questionnaire. In study III, during the rehabilitation programme, all subjects completed paper and computer versions of the TSK-FIN on two consecutive days with an interval of 7 to 8 hours. The two versions of the TSK-FIN were introduced in blocks of five to eight patients in a random order on the morning of day 1. If a subject completed the paper version in the morning of day 1, they subsequently completed the computer version in the afternoon of the same day. On day 2, the order was reversed. In study IV, the participants received a self-administered questionnaire asking about their socio-demographic factors, leisure-time physical activity, co-morbidities and kinesiophobia. They completed the questionnaire at home and returned it to the study site, where anthropometric measurements, blood pressure measurements, blood sampling and a balance test were carried out.

Co-morbidities. Participants were asked if during the last 12 months they had any co-morbidities that were identified or treated by a medical doctor. The answers were coded as "yes" or "no" in the analyses and classified as cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disease and mental disorder. In addition, participants were asked

if they had a road traffic accident, an accident at work or at home, a sports-related accident or an accident during their leisure time that required medical treatment.

4.3 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Statistical analyses were performed with the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), version 10 (I), Stata version 10 and SPSS version 15 (II), Stata version 11.1 and SPSS version 15 (III, IV) (SPSS inc, Chigaco, Illinois, USA), (StataCorp LP, College Station, Texas, USA). Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test normality of variables. Frequencies with percentages, medians with interquartile range (IQR), mean and standard deviations were used as descriptive statistics. In addition, 95 percent confidence intervals (95% CI) were used in studies II – IV. Pearson chi-square, t-tests or bootstrap-type t-test (IV) and analysis of variance were used in analysing data between groups. In the case of violation of the assumptions (e.g. nonnormality), a bootstrap-type test was used. The bootstrap method is significantly helpful when the theoretical distribution of the test statistic is unknown or in the case of a violation of the assumptions (Efron and Tibshirani 1993). Cronbach's alpha was applied to calculate internal consistency. Bonferroni correction was performed to adjust for multiple comparisons. The statistical significance level was set at 0.05 in all studies.

Study I

The pain behaviour measures represent categorical data. Kappa statistics was chosen for calculation for both intra-observer reliability and inter-observer reliability. Kappa is a measure of "true" agreement, that is agreement beyond expected by chance (Cohen 1960). In addition, the percentage agreements are given, as it was not always possible to calculate Kappa values. The threshold for the acceptability of the Kappa score was set at >0.6 as Landis and Koch (1977) suggested. The relationships between the measures of pain behaviour, self-reported pain and physical function variables were investigated by Pearson product moment correlation using a Bonferroni correction for the large number of variables involved. Multiple regression analysis was used to determine the relative importance of physical impairment, pain and pain behaviour on self-report of disability. The variables were entered in blocks. Self-reported pain was entered first followed by pain behaviour, physical impairment variables and then physical function variables.
Study II

A bootstrap-type (Efron and Tibshirani 1991) (5000 replications) random coefficient regression was used for statistical comparison of the changes in repeated measurements. Confidence intervals (CI) for the mean of changes were obtained by bias-corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications). The effect size ('d') was calculated by using Cohen's method (Cohen 1988) for paired samples. An effect size of 0.20 was considered to be small, 0.50 was medium, and 0.80 was large. CIs for the effect sizes were obtained by bias-corrected bootstrapping (5000 replications). Multivariate linear regression analyses were used to identify the appropriate predictors of the TSK-FIN score using adjusted standardized regression coefficients Beta (β). The Beta value is a measure of how strongly each predictor variable influences the criterion (dependent) variable. The beta is measured in units of standard deviation. Cohen's standard for Beta values above 0.10, 0.30 and 0.50 represent small, moderate and large relationships, respectively.

Study III

The Intra-class Correlation Coefficients (ICC) for test-retest reliability (i.e. repeatability/stability over time) and for comparability (reproducibility) were calculated using a two-way random effects model (ICC 2.1). The difference between the two methods was assessed using a reproducibility coefficient with 95% bias-corrected bootstrap (5000 replications) confidence intervals and Bland - Altman method for limits of agreement (LoA). The Bland-Altman method (Bland and Altman 1986) was used for both methods to show the variability of results at the individual level. The differences between test and retest measurements were plotted against the corresponding mean for each subject. Statistical comparison of the difference in variance between two methods was performed using Pitman's test (Pitman 1939) for paired variances.

Study IV

The adjusted statistical significance between groups was evaluated by bootstrap type analysis (5000 replications) of co-variance (ANCOVA) with appropriate contrast. The cumulative distribution was calculated to estimate the prevalence of high kinesiophobia. The association between kinesiophobia and age was investigated using the Pearson correlation coefficient.

5 RESULTS

5.1 KINESIOPHOBIA, GENDER AND AGE (I, II, III AND IV)

The total number of the participants of this study was 1277 individuals. In study group IV, both men and women were older compared to the other study groups and subjects in sample III were older than in samples I and II (Table 1). The mean score (SD) of the TSK-FIN was 34.3 (7.1). Men had higher (p<0.001) scores [mean (SD) 35.5(7.4)] in the TSK-FIN compared to women [mean (SD) 33.3(6.7)]. Among patient samples (I-III) the mean scores of the TSK-FIN were significantly higher (p<0.001 - p=0.007) compared to the general population (IV) (Table 2). Figure 3 shows the distributions of the TSK-FIN for men and women and figure 4 shows the distribution of the TSK-FIN for patients and the general population. A Shapiro-Wilk test indicated non-normality (p<0.001). Among the general population (IV), a higher TSK-FIN score was significantly associated with the presence of cardiovascular disease (p=0.039), musculoskeletal disease (p=0.018) or mental disorders (p=0.015) compared to the absence of the aforementioned after adjusting sex and age. The presence of an accident during the last 12 months was not associated with the TSK-FIN score. Internal consistency was high in the samples of studies I and III, and moderate in the samples of studies II and IV (Table 2).

	l N=51	II N=93	III N=94	IV N=1039	р
Men (%)	24 (47)	26 (33)	39 (42)	457 (44)	0.40
Age, Mean (SD) Men Women	45 (8) 44 (7) 45 (9)	44 (8) 44 (9) 44 (7)	47 (8) 46 (8) 47 (8)	50 (14) 51 (14) 50 (14)	<0.001

Table 1. Number of males (%) and mean (SD) age of men and women across study samples.

Table 2. Sample size, TSK score (mean, SD) and Cronbach's alpha of each study sample.

Study	N	TSK (mean, SD)	Alpha	
I	51	36.8 (8.7)	0.83	
Ш	93	37.9 (7.9)	0.80	
III	94	37.2 (8.2)	0.82	
IV	1039	33.6 (6.6)	0.72	
Total	1277	34.3 (7.1)	0.75	



Figure 3. Distribution of the TSK-FIN score for men and women. TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia



Figure 4. Distribution of the TSK-FIN score for patients and the general population. TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

Among the general population the TSK-FIN score and age were associated in both sexes (men: R=0.17, p<0.01; women: R=0.19, p<0.001). Men over 55 and women over 65 had higher TSK scores compared to younger persons. Among patient samples, there was no association between the TSK score and age (R=0.18, p=0.78) (Figure 5). Among men the TSK-FIN scores in each age group were higher in the patient samples compared to general population (t=2.0, p=0.05 - t=6.8, p<0.001). Among women the TSK-FIN scores were higher in patients in age group 35 - 44 yrs (t=2.7, p=0.007) and age group 45 - 54 yrs (t=3.2, p=0.002) compared to the general population.



Figure 5. Mean and 95% Cl's of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) scores for men and women by age groups.

TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

5.2 RELIABILITY AND COMPARABILITY OF THE PAPER AND COMPUTER VERSION OF THE TSK-FIN (III)

In study III, subjects scored higher in the computer version of the TSK-FIN, mean (SD) 37.1 (8.1) [95% CI 35.5 to 38.8], than in the paper version, mean (SD) 35.3 (7.9) [95% CI 33.7 to 36.9]. The mean difference between the computer and paper version was 1.9 [95% CI 0.8 to 2.9] (p=0.001). However, the Pitman's variance ratio of 1.04 [95% CI 0.92 to 1.18] (p = 0.53) indicates that variances in the computer and paper versions did not differ.

The test-retest reliability indicates excellent reliability. The internal consistencies were 0.80 (0.73 to 0.84) and 0.82 (0.75 to 0.86) respectively. The ICC for comparability was 0.77 (95% CI 0.66 to 0.85), indicating good reliability between the different methods. The reproducibility coefficient indicated that there is a 95% expectation that the paper and computer versions differ by less than 11 points (95% CI = 9 to 12). Figure 6 shows Bland-Altman plots for the 95% LoA between test and retest measures for both the computer and paper versions. In terms of individual variability, 62% varied by less than 3 points and 44% by less than 2 points.

Both the paper and the computer versions of the TSK-FIN were equally easy or difficult to complete. Sixty-eight per cent of subjects considered that the paper version of the TSK-FIN was easy to complete, 11% considered it difficult to complete and 21% did not consider it to be either difficult or easy to complete. For the computer version, the percentages were 69%, 11% and 20%, respectively. In the future, slightly more than half of the subjects would prefer to answer the questions using the computer version, whereas 17% would prefer the paper version; twenty-nine per cent of the subjects did not show any preference as to which version they would use. There was no association between the preferred method for future use and how much the subject used a computer. Also, there was no association between the preferred method for future use and how easy or difficult the paper and computer versions were to complete.



Figure 6. The difference between test and retest measures for both the computer and paper versions of the TSK-FIN plotted against the mean for each patient. The dotted line shows the 95% limit of agreement. Solid circles indicate men and open circles indicate women.

5.3 ASSOCIATION BETWEEN KINESIOPHOBIA AND SELF-REPORTED QUESTIONNAIRES (I, II)

There was a strong correlation between pain behaviour and subjective pain report and disability (r=0.37, p<0.01). The TSK-FIN had the strongest correlation (r= 0.60, p<0.001) to depression (Modified Zung), moderate correlations to pain behaviour (r= 0.34, p=0.01) and disability (ODI) (r= 0.37, p=0.008) and low correlation to subjective pain (r= 0.30). In study II, the level of kinesiophobia was associated with disability (r=0.28, p=0.006) and depressive symptoms (r=0.27, p=0.01). The low kinesiophobia group showed lower scores in ODI (mean 31, SD 11) than the medium (mean 37, SD 9) and high (mean 39, SD 14) kinesiophobia groups (p=0.013). The high kinesiophobia group had more depressive symptoms (mean 16, SD 7) than the medium and the low kinesiophobia groups (p=0.028), (mean 14, SD 8) and (mean 12, SD 6), respectively.

The relationship between subjective report of pain and the physical impairment measures was very poor. Subjective pain report correlated more closely with measures of physical function e.g. repetitive arching, timed walk and lifting. The correlations between total pain behaviour and physical function tests: performance of dynamic trunk exercises, repeated sit to stand, timed walk, and lift was strong (P<0.01). Only grip strength was not correlated with pain behaviour.

Pain intensity was the most important variable explaining disability (36% of the variance), pain behaviour contributed a further 14% and somatic perception 8% of the variance. Physical impairment and physical function variables failed to add to the explanation of disability. Kinesiophobia also did not contribute to the explanation of the initial levels of disability (I). In study II, the TSK-FIN accounted for only 4% of the variability of the pain intensity (Figure 7), 12% of the variability of self-rated disability (Figure 8), and 7% of the variability of self-rated depression (Figure 9).



Figure 7. Quadratic relationship with 95% confidence intervals between TSK-FIN score and pain. TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia VAS = Visual Analogue Scale



Figure 8. Quadratic relationship with 95% confidence intervals between TSK-FIN score and self-rated disability.

TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

ODI = Oswestry Disability Index



Figure 9. Quadratic relationship with 95% confidence intervals between TSK-FIN score and depression. TSK-FIN = The Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia BDI = Beck Depression Index

5.4 THE ASSOCIATION OF KINESIOPHOBIA TO LEISURE TIME PHYSICAL ACTIVITY (II, IV)

Among the general population (IV), there was a significant (p<0.001) inverse linear association between kinesiophobia and leisure-time physical activity in both sexes after adjustment for age, whereas among patients (II), linear association was non-significant (p=0.46) (Figure 10). However, kinesiophobia and the LTPA index were inversely associated among the patient sample. Among patients, the mean LTPA index of the high kinesiophobia group was lower (mean 17, SD 13) than in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups, (mean 26, SD 16) (p=0.012). In the subgroup analyses among 'only musculoskeletal disease', 'only accident during last 12 months' or 'presence of two or more diseases' groups, the TSK-FIN score was inversely associated with physical activity. This association was not observed in the 'apparently healthy', 'only cardiovascular' or 'only mental disorder' subgroups.

Among men, patients in each LTPA group had higher (t=4.3, p<0.001 - t=5.3, p<0.001) mean TSK scores compared to general population, while among women there was significant difference (t=3.7, p<0.001) in the mean TSK score only in high LTPA group (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Mean with 95% confidence intervals of the TSK-FIN across LTPA groups for men and women among the general population and patient sample II.

TSK-FIN = Finnish version of Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

LTPA = Leisure-Time Physical Activity

At the 6-month follow-up patients among sample II with high kinesiophobia had increased their physical activity to the same level as the low and medium kinesiophobia groups. This change was maintained up to the 12-month follow-up. There were no changes in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups at the 6-month or 12-month follow-up. The mean change in physical activity in the whole sample was 4 (95% CI 1 to 7) (p=0.008). The mean change in the LTPA index among patients with high kinesiophobia was 8 (95% CI 3 to 13) (p=0.023), while patients with low kinesiophobia showed a mean change of 1 (95% CI -3 to 5) and the mean change for patients with medium kinesiophobia was 2 (95% CI -3 to 5). The mean change in TSK was -2.0 (95% CI -3.5 to -0.5) (p=0.01). The effect sizes of the change in the LTPA index and pain intensity at the 12-month follow-up were both moderate in the high kinesiophobia groups.

At the 12-month follow-up, there was no association between the change of kinesiophobia and the change of physical activity when exploring the whole sample (r=0.10). However, the association of change in kinesiophobia and physical activity was different in the three kinesiophobia sub-groups. Among patients with low

kinesiophobia, the association was strong (r=0.48), but only four (13%) patients had increased their physical activity and showed a decrease in kinesiophobia. In the medium and high kinesiophobia group the associations were weak (r=0.10 and r=0.23), but favourable changes in physical activity and kinesiophobia was observed in 10 patients (35%) in the medium kinesiophobia group, and in 14 patients (41%) in the high kinesiophobia group.

The strongest explaining variable for fear of movement was the male gender (standardized beta 0.33, p<0.001), followed by depression (Beta 0.22, p=0.019) and disability (Beta 0.21, p=0.026). Physical activity, pain and age did not reach significance. For the model, $r^2 = 0.24$ (95% CI: 0.07 to 0.35) (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Multivariate relationships between TSK-FIN related factors (β -values with 95% confidence intervals). Beta values above 0.10, 0.30 and 0.50 represent small, moderate and large relationships, respectively.

BDI = Beck Depression Index

ODI = Oswestry Disability Index

LTPA = Leisure Time Physical Activity

5.5 PREVALENCE OF KINESIOPHOBIA AMONG THE GENERAL POPULATION (IV)

The cumulative distribution of the TSK-FIN was calculated for men and women separately in order to estimate the cut-off point of kinesiophobia within the general population (study IV). Of all subjects, 14.2% scored 40 points or more. There were no significant differences between men (15.3%) and women (13.3%). If the cut-off point for kinesiophobia is set at 37 points, 24.5% of the subjects are considered to have fear of movement (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Cumulative distribution of the TSK-FIN scores for men and women among general population. TSK-FIN = Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia

5.6 RELIABILITY OF ASSESSMENT OF PAIN BEHAVIOUR

For the intra- and inter-observer reliability, a high percentage agreement and good to excellent levels of kappa scores for agreement were demonstrated (Table 3). The exceptions to this are facial expression (kappa 0.29) and verbal report of pain, which only just failed to reach the acceptable threshold with a kappa score of 0.58. Facial expression was therefore excluded from the final measurement instrument and verbal report of pain was retained in the measure.

After the exclusion of the facial grimacing score, the Cronbach's alpha for the total scores was 0.73, which demonstrates an acceptable level of internal consistency. The exclusion of the Verbal report of pain did not affect the alpha score (0.73) and it was be retained in the final measure. The total score of pain behaviour was created for each subject by summing the total number of each category of pain behaviour.

	Observer one			Observer two			Observer one vs two		
Variable	% agree- ment	Карра	Ρ	% agree- ment	Карра	Р	% agree- ment	Карра	Ρ
Distorted Gait	88.9	n/a	0.001	83.3	0.67	0.004	83.3	0.67	0.004
Audible pain behaviour	83.3	0.74	0.001	83.3	0.73	0.001	77.8	0.67	0.001
Facial Expression	72.2	0.29	0.18	88.9	0.60	0.01	72.2	0.29	0.18
Stopping/ Resting	88.9	0.84	0.001	88.9	0.83	0.001	94.4	0.92	0.001
Touching/ Holding	94.4	0.82	0.001	100	1.00	0.001	88.9	n/a	0.001
Verbal reports	88.9	0.61	0.005	88.9	0.73	0.002	83.3	0.58	0.02
Support/ Leaning	83.3	0.71	0.001	93.3	n/a	0.001	77.8	0.68	0.001
Guarding/ Bracing	83.3	0.74	0.001	88.9	0.85	0.001	83.3	0.69	0.001

Table 3. Inter- and intra-observer reliability of pain behaviour measure (n=18).

6 **DISCUSSION**

Psycho-social factors are widely recognized to be responsible in the transition from acute to chronic pain and also in the maintaining of chronic pain. According to the fear avoidance model of pain, pain-related fear and avoidance behaviours may play an important role in those processes. Asymmetries and non-coordinated movement patterns 'guarded movements' in gait have been found to be associated with low back pain (Arendt-Nielsen et al. 1996) and asymmetries in gait are correlated with pain behaviour (Keefe and Hill 1985). Main and Watson (1996) and Watson et al. (1997) have suggested that pain-related fear plays a more important role in the development of guarded movements than pain severity or disability levels. One aspect of pain-related fear is fear of movement / kinesiophobia, measured by the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK). Avoidance behaviours may also be evaluated by the TSK or by pain behaviour assessment measures. For clinical rehabilitation practice, reliable and valid assessment tools and outcome measures are needed.

The aim of this study was to examine fear of movement among the Finnish general population and in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: how it can be evaluated, its prevalence and its connection to pain behaviour and physical activity. At first, an assessment tool for pain behaviour was developed and its reliability was studied. The relationship between pain behaviour, distress and physical function and impairment were also investigated. Secondly, the association between fear of movement and physical activity among chronic pain patients was studied in a multi-disciplinary bio-psycho-social pain management setting. Thirdly, the internal consistency, test-retest reliability and comparability of the paper and computer versions of the Finnish version of the Tampa Scale of kinesiophobia (TSK-FIN) among chronic pain patients were estimated. Fourthly, fear of movement among the general population was investigated and reference values in the Finnish general population were created.

6.1 TSK-FIN VALUES IN FINNISH PATIENT SAMPLES AND GENERAL POPULATION

Patients with musculoskeletal pain had significantly higher mean values in the total TSK-FIN score than the general population. Among various musculoskeletal pain patient samples, the differences of the total TSK-FIN score between samples with various locations of pain were statistically non-significant. In addition, among the general population, the presence of cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disease

or a mental disorder was associated with a higher TSK-FIN score compared to the absence of the aforementioned disorders. The TSK scores found in the Finnish population are in line with those from earlier studies. Houben et al. (2005) reported a mean TSK of 32.9 without back complaints and 33.6 for those with back complaints among the Dutch general population. However, they used re-phrased questions, which might have affected the results. Lundberg et al. (2009) reported a median value of 30 among the aerobics group and 44 for a patient group in respect to the TSK scores. In the current study, presence or absence of an accident during in the last 12 months did not have impact on the TSK-FIN score contrary to study of Turk and Holzman (1986), who reported that patients with traumatic onset of pain a had higher score on the TSK. The observed difference of the total TSK score between patient and general population samples suggest the construct validity of the TSK-FIN.

In the present study, men had higher mean values in the total TSK-FIN score in all samples overall, which is in line with previous studies of various populations and countries (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b, Branstrom and Fahlstrom 2008, Roelofs et al. 2011, Luning Bergsten et al. 2012). In the general population sample, but not in the patient samples, age and the TSK-FIN score were significantly associated with one another in both sexes. Among patient samples, there was no association between the TSK-FIN score and age. Earlier, Roelofs et al. (2011) have noted that age was associated with the TSK score among Dutch patients, but not in Canadian and Swedish samples. Comparing the results of the current study to earlier studies more deeply among the general population is difficult because Houben et al. (2005) did not separately report the TSK scores for men and women or the association between fear of movement and age.

6.2 PSYCHOMETRIC PROPERTIES OF TSK-FIN

Reliability, validity and suitability to clinical use or research are essential properties for any measurement. The cultural adaptation process of the TSK-FIN was started by examining reliability (i.e. repeatability and reproducibility), internal consistency and also the comparability of two different methods of completing the TSK-FIN questionnaire. The acceptable reliability of the TSK-FIN questionnaire is a prerequisite of the validity for its clinical use. Furthermore, validity is a wider concept than reliability requiring data gathered from different situations for proper examination.

6.2.1 Internal consistency

The internal consistencies for the total scale of the TSK-FIN across patient samples were good (George and Mallery 2003) and they are consistent with previous studies. The internal consistencies (0.80 to 0.83) found in the present study in patients with chronic pain were somewhat higher than in studies of patients with chronic low back pain (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b, Woby et al. 2005) and acute low back pain (Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003a, Swinkels-Meewisse et al. 2003b, Woby et al. 2005). The internal consistency was at the same level as in studies on patients with chronic fatigue (Nijs et al. 2004), low back pain (Goubert et al. 2004), and mixed-pain patients (Cohen et al. 2003, Lundberg et al. 2004). Patients with neck pain have demonstrated a somewhat higher Cronbach's alpha (0.89) (Cleland et al. 2008) than in the present study. For the general population the internal consistency in this study was substantial but somewhat lower than among the general population in the study by Houben et al. (2005).

6.2.2 Reliability

Both methods to complete the TSK-FIN demonstrated good inter-test reliability and excellent test-retest reliability (Fleiss 1999). For both methods, LoA for test-retest reliability were acceptable suggesting suitability for clinical use. However, subjects had a tendency to score higher on the computer version, which suggests that the paper and the computer versions should not be used alternately. This observation of the present study slightly differs from the meta-analytic review by Gwaltney et al. (2008), who concluded that paper and computer versions of different patient-reported outcomes are overall equivalent.

The intra-class correlation coefficients found in this study were lower than among subacute and chronic LBP patients (Monticone et al. 2010) and musculoskeletal pain patients (Lundberg et al. 2004), but higher than among patients with chronic LBP (Woby et al. 2005), neck pain (Cleland et al. 2008) shoulder pain (Mintken et al. 2010) and in older people with chronic pain (Larsson et al. 2014).

The difference in the mean values between the paper and computer method might be due to the difference in lay-out. In the paper version, all items are visible all the time, so one can create an overall impression of the questionnaire before choosing the appropriate response option for each item. In addition, the paper version allows the opportunity to freely change/correct responses. In the computer version, only one item is visible at a time and it is not possible to go back to change any previous answers. On the other hand, having only one item visible at a time is an advantage of the computer version. The subject must respond to the question; the software used in this study did not allow the respondent to move on without answering the question. This is an advantage in respect to clinical rehabilitation and research as it reduces missing information. Hanscom et al. (2002) found that computer versions of disability (ODI) and quality of life (SF-36) questionnaires had approximately half the missing response rates compared to paper versions. Cook et al. (2004) compared electronic and paper versions of two pain assessment scales (Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire and Pain Disability Index) and found no significant difference between the versions. They also found that there was no association between computer use and the ease or difficulty of completing the computer version. Most subjects reported that it was easier to complete the computer version and that they would prefer to use the computer version in future, which was also observed in the present study. Furthermore, in clinical rehabilitation, it is a major advantage that members of the rehabilitation team have access to the collected information simultaneously.

Richard and Lauterbach (2004) listed the main advantages of computerized questionnaires: 1) there is less missing data, which can be reduced further by requiring the completion of an item before the subject can move on; 2) it is relatively easy to handle complex skip patterns; 3) out-of-range and ambiguous data can be eliminated; 4) computerized questionnaires reduce the effort and errors involved in entering data from paper sheets to a computer database, for example complex indices are calculated instantly; and, 5) compliance can be increased. Stone et al. (2002) reported that the actual compliance in computer diaries is 90% or better, whereas in paper diaries the actual compliance is 11% to 20%. Gwaltney et al. (2008) have suggests that subjects with little computer experience might have difficulties completing computer version of questionnaires, resulting biased measure. In this study, both versions of the TSK-FIN were equally easy or difficult to complete The fact, that there was no association between the preferred method for future and how much the subject used a computer and that there was no association between the preferred method for future use and how easy or difficult the paper and computer version were to complete, suggests that subjects' experience of computer use has not affected results.

Both Woby et al. (2005) and Roelofs et al. (2007) have suggested revising the original TSK by removing the reversed items (items 4, 8, 12 and 16) due to problematic psychometric properties. They have shown poor correlation with other items and internal consistency has been increased by the removal of these items. Based on factorial analyses, researchers have suggested additionally removing one or two items, resulting in a TSK12 (Vlaeyen 1995b) or a TSK11 (Woby et al. 2005, Roelofs et al. 2007). They found that the internal consistency and test-retest reliability of the revised TSK has been at the same level as with the original TSK17. In the present study, preliminary analyses shows that the test-retest reliability of the paper versions of the TSK-FIN17 and the TSK-FIN11 were equal (ICC = 0.89). In the computer version of the TSK-FIN11, the ICC was somewhat lower than in the TSK-FIN17 (0.83 vs. 0.88). Also, Cronbach's alpha was lower in both versions of the TSK-FIN11 when compared to the TSK-FIN17. This preliminary finding suggests that removing certain items from the TSK-FIN would not necessarily increase the reliability or internal consistency of this scale.

6.3 STRUCTURE OF THE TSK

One explanation for the previous might lie in structure of the TSK. Some items may not be specifically related to fear of movement. There are different factor solutions (Vlaeyen et al. 1995a, Clark et al. 1996, Lundberg et al. 2004) of the TSK. The most popular seems to be the two factor solution proposed by Clark et al (1996), where one factor is named as 'activity avoidance', which reflects the belief that activity may result in (re)injury or increased pain. The second factor was named as 'pathological somatic focus', relating to beliefs about underlying and serious medical problems. However, preliminary factor analyses of the present data provided a fivefactor solution. This might be due to the particular study sample, or there might be cultural reasons.

Vlaeven et al. (1995b) originally proposed using TSK values greater than 37 as the cut-off point between low and high fear of movement. A number of different cut-off values, ranging from greater than 35 to greater than 44, have been used later (Lundberg et al. 2004). This reflects the fact that the distribution of the TSK might be sample specific. Many studies have used the mean or median as the cut-off point for high fear of movement, which makes sense from a statistical point of view. However, this may result in overestimating the number of patients with elevated or harmful fear of movement. Moreover, the assessment of an individual patient's level of fear of movement may be misleading if it is based on data drawn from a specific patient sample. Therefore, the cut-off point drawn from a large sample might give a more precise view. Based on the findings of the present study, when an individual patient's score in the TSK is greater than 40, clinicians should pay attention to the possibility of fear-avoidance related issues in the patient's manifestation of complaints. Regarding the assessment of fear of movement, the use of the TSK questionnaire is suggested because clinicians' ability to identify fear of movement in real-time e.g. during clinical assessment is limited (Calley et al. 2010).

There are only a few studies that connect diseases other than musculoskeletal diseases to fear of movement. Back et al. (2012) have reported a high level of kinesiophobia (TSK over 37 points) in patients with coronary artery disease. They used a modified questionnaire (TSK-SV Heart), which makes it difficult to compare the results with those from other studies. HajGhanbari et al. (2012) found that patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease have a higher level of

kinesiophobia than healthy people. In addition to musculoskeletal disease, the presence of cardiovascular disease and mental disorders was significantly associated with a higher TSK-FIN score than the absence of the aforementioned disorders in this study. Hence, fear of movement may reflect even more generally our tendency to react to various health conditions beyond musculoskeletal disorders. Whether or not the participant had been in an accident in the last 12 months was not associated with the TSK-FIN score.

6.4 FEAR OF MOVEMENT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY IN THE GENERAL POPULATION AND PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN

Among the general Finnish population, a significant inverse linear association between fear of movement and leisure-time physical activity in both sexes after adjusting for age was found. The association between fear of movement and the leisure time physical activity (LTPA) was more complex in patients. Linear association between fear of movement and leisure time physical activity was nonsignificant but the LTPA- index was significantly lower in patients with a high TSK-FIN score than in patients with a low or medium TSK-FIN score.

One explanation to the observed difference may be due to the fact that the LTPA-index is more precise as it pays attention not only to the intensity of physical activity but also to the frequency of activity. Furthermore, low physical activity in patients may be related to musculoskeletal or other problems itself. The second explanation for this issue might be that not all pain patients who have a high TSK score are fear-avoiders who reduce their activity due to pain. Hasenbring et al. (2001) has pointed out that some patients tend to complete their activities despite pain, thus further aggravating the pain themselves. In low back patients, the relationship between physical activity and pain is U-shaped rather than linear. Both inactivity and excessive activity represented an increased risk for low back pain (Heneweer et al. 2009). In addition, Huijnen et al. (2009) have shown that activity fluctuations over time are common and may increase disability in low back patients. This might also be the case with other musculoskeletal problems. A noteworthy point of view regarding literature is that pain-related fear has been measured by different questionnaires in various studies. Although researchers have found the correlation between the TSK and the fear avoidance beliefs questionnaire (FABQ) to be significant (de Souza et al. 2008, Askary-Ashtiani et al. 2014) the TSK and the FABQ measure different dimensions of pain-related fear. The FABQ is probably a more generic measure, while high scores in the TSK might be due to fear of a specific movement or movement direction.

Pain related fear has been inversely associated with lower physical activity (Elfving et al. 2007), weakened muscle strength (Crombez et al. 1999, Al-Obaidi et al. 2000, Goubert et al. 2004), decreased walking speed (Al-Obaidi et al. 2003) and with diminished performance on physical tasks (Geisser et al. 2000, Vowles and Gross 2003). However, this connection is not yet clear. Associations between pain related fear and functional capacity evaluations were generally weak or non-significant (Reneman et al. 2007). And further, study by Demoulin et al. (2013) shows that neither a task-specific tool (fear visual analogue scale) nor non-task-specific questionnaires (TSK and Photograph Series of Daily Activities, PHODA) correlated significantly with the physical spine tests for patients with chronic LBP. Taken together, the association between physical capacity and pain-related fear has not been thoroughly studied.

6.5 THE IMPACT OF THE PAIN MANAGEMENT PROGRAM ON FEAR OF MOVEMENT

The pain management program used in study II seems to produce positive effects in terms of physical activity among patients with a high level of kinesiophobia. At the 6-month follow-up, the high kinesiophobia group had increased their leisure time physical activity to the level of the low and medium kinesiophobia groups and maintained the change at the 12-month follow-up. The results are in line with studies by Kernan and Rainville (2007) and van Wilgen et al. (2009), who found that multidisciplinary rehabilitation decreases fear of movement, disability, pain and also increases walking distance (Sullivan et al. 2008). Luningen Bergsten et al. (2012) found that decrease of fear of movement and activity limitations are in conjunction especially in patients who improve their scores on the TSK by eight points or more. In patients with anterior knee pain improvement in pain and disability is associated with a reduction in catastrophizing and fear of movement (Domenech et al. 2014). In addition, (Archer et al. 2014) found that after spinal surgery early postoperative fear of movement predicted pain intensity, pain interference, disability, and physical health at 6-month follow-up in patients with degenerative neck or lumbar conditions.

The observed favourable changes may be due to several reasons. There are one-to-one meetings with team members, lectures and discussion groups which provide information, cognitive and other rehabilitative elements. Most patients are aware of the benefits of exercising and physical activity but they do not feel safe enough to start or continue their activities without external support or guidance. The pain management program provides positive experiences on various physical activities (e.g. walking, water gymnastics, gym and Pilates-type exercise) in a safe environment. In addition, individual home exercise programs are guided. Also, via peer support of the rehabilitation group one may learn how others have managed to solve problems related to the activities of daily living, physical activity and exercise. The observed changes confirm assumptions about rehabilitation mechanisms among chronic pain patients: by decreasing fear and increasing physical activity, it is possible to break the vicious circle of pain and disability (Vlaeyen et al. 1995b).

6.6 ASSESSMENT OF PAIN BEHAVIOUR

The current study tried to develop a pain behaviour measure using standardized every day functional tasks which might be perceived as challenging by those with back pain. The main advantages of standardized situations are 1) different patients can be compared as the demands on the patients are similar and 2) behaviours can be assessed during specific tasks that the patient may ordinarily avoid. However, results from specific structured situation may not be generalized other patient groups or other setting. Another potential source of bias is that patients may alter their behaviour because they know they are being observed (Keefe and Dunsmore 1992). However, using natural situations for assessment of pain behaviour may be more problematic. First, observations carried repeatedly over time require more resources i.e. more costs and they can be impractical in clinical settings. Secondly, patients may avoid painful tasks resulting fewer pain behaviours.

The results of the intra- and inter-observer reliability study demonstrated that the behaviours could be reliably recorded. Percentage agreement statistics are in line and the Kappa statistics in present study are in line with study by Prkachin et al. (2002) with the exception of facial expression. Low Kappa scores of facial expressions in the present study might be due to technical reasons. Videotapes were recorded so that the whole posture and gait of the subject was visible all the time. It was not always possible see their facial expression clearly on a video screen. Due to the unacceptably low Kappa score this item was removed from the final measure. Due to the borderline result (Kappa 0.58), falling only just outside the threshold set, it was decided that verbal reports would be retained in the final analysis and in the construction of the total pain behaviour score.

6.7 ASSOCIATION OF PAIN BEHAVIOUR WITH PERCEIVED DISABILITY, PHYSICAL IMPAIRMENT AND FUNCTION

The relationship between pain and pain behaviour has been demonstrated to be rather equivocal in other studies with reports for concordance, (Keefe and Block 1982, Romano et al. 1992) and discordance, (Richards et al. 1982, Kleinke and Spangler 1988, Watson and Poulter 1997). In this study the association between pain and pain behaviour was strong. This may be a result of the nature of the tasks the subjects were required to undertake i.e. lift heavy weights, perform repeated exercises involving the low back and walk for a prolonged period. The subjects would tend to avoid physically challenging tasks in a routine clinical setting and pain behaviour might thus not be observed. Furthermore, pain behaviour observed in a setting not involving the performance of functional tasks may not adequately reflect the difficulty a subject experiences. Pain behaviour was associated with all using standardised range of motion and physical performance tests except maximal grip strength. This indicates that pain behaviour is specific to tasks which would be expected to stress the back, such as lifting, bending and walking.

In the present study, the associations between disability and pain behaviour, and disability and pain report were very similar. Earlier studies, (Richards et al. 1982, Keefe et al. 1987, Romano et al. 1992, Watson and Poulter 1997) have found close relationships between disability and pain behaviour and the correlations between disability and pain behaviours. This might be due the fact that patients in this study reported very high levels of disability and pain. Other studies into the relationships between pain, disability and function have not reported such high levels of pain and disability (Gronblad et al. 1997, Simmonds et al. 1998). Also, disability in those with back pain is highly influenced by psychological factors. The levels of depression and psychological distress in particular have been demonstrated to be highly associated with disability (Main et al. 1992, Averill et al. 1996, Glombiewski et al. 2010, Bener et al. 2013).

The regression analysis in the present study shows that pain intensity explained 36% of the variance in the self-report of disability. When adding pain behaviour and somatic anxiety to the model this increased to 48% and 56%, respectively. Depression and fear of movement did not contribute to the model. The physical impairment and physical function variables failed to add additional explanation of variance to the model. This does not mean that they are simply another measure of pain behaviour, they are the product of a number of influences of which pain behaviour is just one; fear/avoidance beliefs, pain expectancy and self-efficacy beliefs are also influential (Watson 1999b). Quite obviously, the intercorrelations between pain and other factors related to disability are so high that it is hard to distinguish the true impact of each variable on disability.

6.8 LIMITATIONS AND STATISTICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Study I. The relationships demonstrated between the variables in this study may not be representative of patient groups reporting lower levels of pain and disability. Also, the results from a low back pain patient group should be generalized with caution regarding other patient groups.

Kappa statistics is a robust index of agreement as it does not make distinctions among various types and sources of disagreement. Kappa is influenced by distribution and base-rates. Therefore, the magnitudes of kappa's are seldom comparable across different scales, procedures, or populations (Thompson and Walter 1988, Feinstein and Cicchetti 1990). Kappa may be low even though there are high levels of agreement and even though individual ratings are accurate. Whether a given kappa value implies a good or a bad rating system or diagnostic method depends on what model one assumes about the decision-making of the raters (Uebersax 1987).

Study II. There are a few limitations in collecting physical activity data. Firstly, only leisure time activity was registered and measures of occupational physical activities were not included in baseline questionnaires. However, if occupational activities had been taken into account, the sample size would have been remarkably smaller, as 38% of subjects were out of work. Secondly, the LTPA index is based on self-reporting of physical activity frequency and intensity, and people have a tendency to over-report their physical activity (Sallis and Saelens 2000). Motion sensors, such as a pedometer or an accelerometer are more objective methods of assessing physical activity. These devices tend to underestimate walking and overestimate jogging activity and they fail to detect arm movements, resistance exercise and the performance of external work, which might have an effect on the result (Bassett et al. 2000). Moreover, chronic pain patients most often favour to carry out physical exercises in water, where motion sensor devices cannot be used. Heart rate measurement devices can be used in water and energy expenditure can be calculated for the assessment of physical activity. Furthermore, the 12-month follow up data of physical activity would have been lost if motion sensors or heart rate measurement had been used. In addition, the data for physical activity among the general population would have been lost as using motion sensors or a heart rate monitor would have caused expenses far beyond the budget.

In any case, the information on leisure time physical activity was collected using the same method for all patients at every time-point. At the six month and 12 month follow-up the low and medium kinesiophobia groups reported no change in physical activity. In the case of a strong tendency towards over-reporting, one would also have expected an increase in physical activity also in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups. It should also be noted that the patient sample included mixed pain syndromes, which may have influenced the assessment of disability.

Study III. Test-retest reliability data was collected over two consecutive days. There is a risk that the short time span between the measurements might have caused recall bias. However, the order of completing the paper and computer versions of the TSK-FIN was randomized and the order had no effect on reliability. Devo et al. (1991) have proposed that the best time span for gathering test-retest reliability data is 1-2 weeks. Marx et al. (2003) have shown that there were no statistically significant differences in the test-retest reliability at 2 days and 2 weeks for four knee-rating scales and the eight domains of the Short Form-36 -questionnaire. Furthermore, a longer time span might also have caused bias. The subjects took part in the normal rehabilitation program, which consisted of three to four hours of physical activity and two to three hours of sitting during health education and group discussions. Some individuals reported more pain as a consequence of physical activity and prolonged sitting, which might have had an influence on their pain-related fear. In addition, the use of pain medication was not controlled. However, there was no difference in the test-retest reliability between patients with high and low pain intensity. In addition, the rehabilitation program could have decreased fear of movement while, on the other hand, physical exercise and participation in the rehabilitation program might have increased pain-related fear in some patients. Both of these may have an effect on individual ratings of fear of movement and reliability.

The statistical methods had pros and cons as well. There are different options for calculating IntraClass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) for different measurement situations. ICC combines information about bias and association as it reflects both the degree of correspondence and agreement among ratings, takes into account of the actual magnitude of the score (Portney and Watkins 2000) and it can calculated so that it is sensitive to systematic bias in data (Atkinson and Nevill 1998).

One disadvantage is that ICC is strongly influenced by variance, which means that one cannot compare ICCs for samples with different between-subject variance. Furthermore, interpretation of ICC values is not simple although an ICC value closer to 1 indicates higher reliability. However, a coefficient is just a point estimate of the sample in question. In addition, ICC gives no indication of the magnitude of disagreement between measurements. According to the widely-used reference (Fleiss 1999), ICC values between 0.40 and 0.75 represent fair to good reliability and values above 0.75 represent excellent reliability. Atkinson and Nevill (1998) have stated that no clear definition of cut-off points has been presented for practical use. Therefore the calculation of confidence intervals would be more informative.

The Bland-Altman method for limits of agreement (LoA) has some advantages over ICC: the degree of agreement is easily detected visually and easy identification of bias, outliers and any relationship between variance of measures with the size of the mean can also be detected. The complexity interpretation compared to a single reliability index and the need for a sample set of over 50 subjects to avoid a very wide 95% CI for LoA are the major disadvantages of the method (Rankin and Stokes 1998).

Cronbach's alpha value has been criticized for being sensitive to the number of items: the higher the number of items, the higher the alpha value will be (Cortina 1993). High alpha values (> 0.95), indicate that the items are too closely related. The calculation of the alpha value is based on an assumption of normal distribution, which is seldom observed (Svensson 2001), and therefore bias-corrected bootstrap confidence intervals for alpha were used.

Study IV. The participants consisted of a random sample from the Finnish population register in the Turku and Loimaa area. The response rate for the TSK-FIN was 61%. Harald et al. (2007) have pointed out that younger men with a low socio-economic status in particular are over-represented among non-responders. This was also observed in the present study, and it may have biased the results. If the non-participants were included, the studied associations could have been even stronger, particularly for the age-related increase in the score. There are limitations in using self-report questionnaires to assess physical activity. People have a tendency to overestimate their physical activity (Sallis and Saelens 2000). Motion sensors, such as pedometers or accelerometers, would have yielded more objective data on physical activity. However, these devices have limitations as stated earlier.

The information on co-morbidities was also based on self-reports. The participants were asked if they have had any co-morbidities during the last 12 months that were identified or treated by a medical doctor. Respectively, the participants were asked if they have been in a traffic accident, had an accident at work or at home, had a sports-related accident or had an accident during leisure time that has required medical treatment. Therefore, subgroup analyses regarding the association between kinesiophobia and leisure-time physical activity should be considered as preliminary; in addition, some of the subgroup sizes were small.

6.9 FURTHER STUDIES

Further studies are needed to examine the validity and factorial structure of the TSK-FIN with all the 17 items and also the widely used 11 item version of the TSK among patient samples with different musculoskeletal disorders and different pain modalities, such as neuropathic pain as well as among the general population. Also, studies of measurement properties such as test-retest reliability, predictive validity

and internal consistency within the general population are warranted. The content validity of the TSK clearly needs to be explored with a larger sample including measures of disability and functioning as well as psychosocial dimensions: health related quality of life, and factors related to the FAM e.g. catastrophizing, self-efficacy and pain behaviour. In addition, further research is required to study the minimal detectable change of the TSK-FIN.

To study the validity of the TSK more deeply, the association between fear of movement and its subscales and physical activity should be replicated in a larger sample, providing an opportunity to study different subgroups of pain syndromes more closely among the general population and use novel methods to document physical activity by means of direct measurements. In further studies direct measurements of the level of activity would give a more reliable estimation of the connection between fear-avoidance and physical activity.

A larger study regarding assessment of pain behaviour is required. The relative importance of pain behaviour and fear-avoidance related variables in the development, maintenance and resolution of disability following rehabilitation interventions will be the subject of further research. An interesting link between pain behaviour and fear-avoidance is guarding, which need to be explored. Also, the development of an on-line pain behaviour assessment method is warranted.

7 MAIN FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Study I: The results demonstrate that, in this group of highly disabled individuals reporting high levels of pain, pain report and the subject's consequent pain behaviour were the most important determinants of disability, physical impairment and physical function. This functional, video-based assessment of pain behaviour is a reliable measure of pain behaviour in back pain. The total scores for pain behaviour correlate very strongly with functional performance and specific impairment (the range of motion of the low back) but only for tasks that involve the back; tests involving the upper limb (grip strength) were not affected. This indicates that this particular test of pain behaviour is suitable for the assessment of those with back pain problems, but probably not other conditions.

Study II: The pain management program seems to produce positive effects in terms of physical activity among patients with high kinesiophobia. At the 6-month followup, the high kinesiophobia group had increased their leisure time physical activity to the level of the low and medium kinesiophobia groups and maintained the change at the 12-month follow-up. There were no significant changes in the subjects with low and medium kinesiophobia at the 6-month or 12-month follow-up. Furthermore, the decrease in pain intensity was greatest in the high kinesiophobia group, although the difference between the groups was not statistically significant. The effect sizes of the change of pain intensity were moderate in the high kinesiophobia group and small in the low and medium kinesiophobia groups. The association of the change of fear of movement and physical activity was different in the three kinesiophobia groups. In the high kinesiophobia group, physical activity increased and fear of movement decreased in 41% of the subjects. The respective change was observed in 35% of the subjects in the medium kinesiophobia group, whereas in the low kinesiophobia group this change occurred in only 13% of the subjects. As far as the author knows, this is the first time that an increase in physical activity has been demonstrated in conjunction with a decreased fear of movement in patients with moderate disability.

Study III: Based on the findings in this study, the Finnish version of the TSK has acceptable reliability for assessing kinesiophobia in a mixed musculoskeletal pain population and the TSK-FIN is suitable for clinical use. In order to enhance the comparability of the paper and computer versions of any questionnaire, the versions should have a similar layout (all items on each page should be visible all the time) and the computer version must include the option to go back and make changes

to previous answers, when necessary. It is concluded that the paper and computer versions are highly comparable methods for collecting data as almost two-thirds of the subjects' scores differed by less than three points. Most of the subjects in the present study preferred to complete the computer questionnaire, which should be taken into account when planning future studies. In an ideal situation, the data should be collected in a similar manner during the course of rehabilitation or clinical research.

Study IV: Patients had significantly higher mean values in the total TSK-FIN score than the general population. Among various musculoskeletal pain patient samples the differences of the total TSK-FIN scores between samples were statistically non-significant. In addition, among the general population, the presence of cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disease or a mental disorder was associated with a higher TSK-FIN score compared to the absence of the aforementioned disorders.

Reference values for the TSK- FIN have been presented. Earlier studies have shown that there is no clear single cut-off point for kinesiophobia, and different cut-off points have been suggested. The findings of the present study support the suggestion of Lundberg et al. (2004) that a TSK score of over 40 points should direct clinicians' attention towards the possibility of pain-related fear and adjust the treatment plan to address specific needs. Age and the TSK-FIN score were associated with one another in both sexes; older age groups had higher scores than younger ones. Men had higher mean scores overall and there were also gender differences in an item-by-item comparison. Kinesiophobia and leisure-time physical activity were associated with one another; likewise, the presence of co-morbidities was associated with the TSK-FIN score. The relevance of fear of movement in daily practice among musculoskeletal patients is quite evident.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the ORTON Rehabilitation Centre in Helsinki and as a part of the National FINRISKI 2007 study organized by the National Institute for Health and Welfare. This work was financially supported by ORTON Research Unit (EVO-grant) and the Social Insurance Institute of Finland.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Heikki Hurri for his encouragement, support, and practical guidance throughout this study project. You have an extraordinary ability to find solutions for every problem. I am also deeply grateful to my other supervisor, Docent Timo Pohjolainen for his advices and knowledge on the subject. You have the talent of getting straight to the point and seeing what is relevant and what is not.

I wish to express my warmest gratitude to the reviewers of this thesis, Professor Kristiina Härkäpää and Professor Hannu Luomajoki for their valuable comments and criticism which significantly improved the manuscript.

Professor Jaakko Kaprio is acknowledged for taking this study under his wing at the final stage at the University of Helsinki. Your clear and keen understanding has made a deep impact on me.

My special thanks go to BA Hannu Kautiainen for his help with the statistics. During visits in Äänekoski, your hospitality and the relaxed atmosphere you created together with your keen expertise and sense of humor made working very enjoyable.

I express my sincere thanks to my co-authors for their important role in this research; Psyc. Lic. Tage Orenius, Docent Maija Haanpää, Docent Katja Borodulin and Professor Urho Kujala, who all have brought their expertise, contribution and critical advice to the writing of the articles.

I am grateful to the staff of the ORTON research unit. PhD Leena Ristolainen has provided friendly and practical advice and help for getting access to articles needed during this process. Docent Jyrki Kettunen has provided great support during this process. He has been always present when I needed to 'ventilate ideas' no matter what subject was. He has also been a member of the thesis follow-up committee together with Hannu Luomajoki.

I am deeply grateful to Professor (hons.) Paul Watson for providing idea for the first study. You have inspired me towards the world of science and statistics. I owe you a lot.

My sincere thanks to MSc Päivi Sainio and MSc Mariitta Vaara at the National Institute for Health and Welfare (THL) for their helpful comments to the study plan and helping with the practical arrangements with the FINRiski 2007 study. My warm thanks go to PhD MA Timothy Wilson at the English Centre for language revision of this thesis

My especially warm thanks go to my colleague PT Sarita Aho for support, encouragement and friendship. For many years we both worked on the same rehabilitation team and shared the joys and frustrations of clinical work with chronic pain patients. MD Jukka Pekka Kouri and MSc (Psychology) Riikka Toivanen are acknowledged for inspiring team meetings during early years of the pain management program and widening my perspective in treating patients with chronic pain.

I am grateful to all my colleagues and co-workers at the ORTON Invalid Foundation for asupporting atmosphere and understanding with this project. I wish to thank especially Docent Karl-August Lindgren, PTTiina Lahtinen-Suopanki, PT Marja Koponen, PT Marjo Janhunen and all the others from the physiotherapy department for their encouragement and friendship. PT Satu-Anna Niinivaara and PT Tuula Juden did a great job with the patients in the pain management program. I wish to thank warmly Anne Hytönen and Outi Salminen, for videotaping all participants in the study I. I also wish to warmly thank all staff members at ORTON involved in data collection and the practical arrangement of the pain management programs.

Most importantly, I am grateful to my beloved family. I wish to express my gratitude and appreciation to my parents Helmi and Pertti (†) for everything; you have always encouraged me forward with love and optimism. My brother Tommi, I wish to thank you for being the wonderful brother that you are. My former wife Salla, I am deeply grateful for your patience and support when our kids were young. My daughters Emma and Saara, you are the joy of my life; you have always reminded me of what is important in life. I wish to thank Jenni and Sonja, my 'additional' daughters for briging a lot of joy to my life. And finally, I owe my deepest gratitude to my wife Merja for your love and support. Sailing, skiing and living with you has been a great counterbalance to this work.

REFERENCES

- Al-Obaidi SM, Nelson RM, Al-Awadhi S and Al-Shuwaie N. 2000. The role of anticipation and fear of pain in the persistence of avoidance behavior in patients with chronic low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 25, 1126-1131.
- Al-Obaidi SM, Al-Zoabi B, Al-Shuwaie N, Al-Zaabie N and Nelson RM. 2003. The influence of pain and pain-related fear and disability beliefs on walking velocity in chronic low back pain. Int J Rehabil Res 26, 101-108.
- Apkarian AV, Hashmi JA and Baliki MN. 2011. Pain and the brain: specificity and plasticity of the brain in clinical chronic pain. Pain 152, S49-64.
- Apkarian AV, Baliki MN and Farmer MA. 2013. Predicting transition to chronic pain. Curr Opin Neurol 26, 360-367.
- Archer KR, Seebach CL, Mathis SL, Riley LH, 3rd and Wegener ST. 2014. Early postoperative fear of movement predicts pain, disability, and physical health six months after spinal surgery for degenerative conditions. Spine J 14, 759-767.
- Arendt-Nielsen L, Graven-Nielsen T, Svarrer H and Svensson P. 1996. The influence of low back pain on muscle activity and coordination during gait: a clinical and experimental study. Pain 64, 231-240.
- Aristotle. 2004. The Art of Rhetoric. Lawson-Tancred HC. London, Penguin Books. pp. 1382a21-23.
- Arntz A and Claassens L. 2004. The meaning of pain influences its experienced intensity. Pain 109, 20-25.
- Askary-Ashtiani A, Ebrahimi-Takamejani I, Torkaman G, Amiri M and Mousavi SJ. 2014. Reliability and validity of the Persian versions of the fear avoidance beliefs questionnaire and Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia in patients with neck pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 39, E1095-1102.
- Askew C and Field AP. 2007. Vicarious learning and the development of fears in childhood. Behav Res Ther 45, 2616-2627.
- Asmundson GJ and Taylor S. 1996. Role of anxiety sensitivity in pain-related fear and avoidance. J Behav Med 19, 577-586.
- Asmundson GJ, Norton PJ and Vlaeyen JWS. 2004. Fear-avoidance models of chronic pain: An owerview. In: Understanding and treating fear of pain. Eds. Asmundson GJ, Vlaeyen JWS and Crombez G. Oxford, Oxford University Press:pp. 3-24.

- Atkinson G and Nevill AM. 1998. Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. Sports Med 26, 217-238.
- Averill PM, Novy DM, Nelson DV and Berry LA. 1996. Correlates of depression in chronic pain patients: a comprehensive examination. Pain 65, 93-100.
- Back M, Jansson B, Cider A, Herlitz J and Lundberg M. 2012. Validation of a questionnaire to detect kinesiophobia (fear of movement) in patients with coronary artery disease. J Rehabil Med 44, 363-369.
- Bailey KM, Carleton RN, Vlaeyen JW and Asmundson GJ. 2010. Treatments addressing pain-related fear and anxiety in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: a preliminary review. Cogn Behav Ther 39, 46-63.
- Bassett DR, Jr., Ainsworth BE, Swartz AM, Strath SJ, O'Brien WL and King GA. 2000. Validity of four motion sensors in measuring moderate intensity physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 32, S471-480.
- Baumstark KE, Buckelew SP, Sher KJ, Beck N, Buescher KL, Hewett J and Crews TM. 1993. Pain behavior predictors among fibromyalgia patients. Pain 55, 339-346.
- Beck AT and Beamesderfer A. 1974. Assessment of depression: the depression inventory. Mod Probl Pharmacopsychiat 7, 151-169.
- Beecher HK. 1946. Pain in Men Wounded in Battle. Ann Surg 123, 96-105.
- Bener A, Verjee M, Dafeeah EE, Falah O, Al-Juhaishi T, Schlogl J, Sedeeq A and Khan S. 2013. Psychological factors: anxiety, depression, and somatization symptoms in low back pain patients. J Pain Res 6, 95-101.
- Bland JM and Altman DG. 1986. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1, 307-310.
- Boersma K and Linton SJ. 2005. How does persistent pain develop? An analysis of the relationship between psychological variables, pain and function across stages of chronicity. Behav Res Ther 43, 1495-1507.
- Bränström H and Fahlström M. 2008. Kinesiophobia in patients with chronic musculoskeletal pain: differences between men and women. J Rehabil Med 40, 375-380.
- Brinjikji W, Luetmer PH, Comstock B, Bresnahan BW, Chen LE, Deyo RA, Halabi S, Turner JA, Avins AL, James K, Wald JT, Kallmes DF and Jarvik JG. 2015. Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration in asymptomatic populations. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 36, 811-816.

- Brox JI, Sørensen R, Friis A, Nygaard Ø, Indahl A, Keller A, Ingebrigtsen T, Eriksen HR, Holm I, Koller AK, Riise R, Reikerås O. 2003. Randomized clinical trial of lumbar instrumented fusion and cognitive intervention and exercises in patients with chronic low back pain and disc degeneration. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 28, 1913-1921.
- Brox JI, Reikerås O, Nygaard Ø, Sørensen R, Indahl A, Holm I, Keller A, Ingebrigtsen T, Grundnes O, Lange JE and Friis A. 2006. Lumbar instrumented fusion compared with cognitive intervention and exercises in patients with chronic back pain after previous surgery for disc herniation: a prospective randomized controlled study. Pain 122, 145-155.
- Bunketorp L, Carlsson J, Kowalski J and Stener-Victorin E. 2005. Evaluating the reliability of multi-item scales: a non-parametric approach to the ordered categorical structure of data collected with the Swedish version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia and the Self-Efficacy Scale. J Rehabil Med 37, 330-334.
- Bunzli S, Smith A, Watkins R, Schutze R and O'Sullivan P. 2014. "What Do People who Score Highly on the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia Really Believe? A Mixed Methods Investigation in People with Chronic Non Specific Low Back Pain. Clin J Pain Aug 27 [Epub ahead of print].
- Burwinkle T, Robinson JP and Turk DC. 2005. Fear of movement: factor structure of the tampa scale of kinesiophobia in patients with fibromyalgia syndrome. J Pain 6, 384-391.
- Calley DQ, Jackson S, Collins H and George SZ. 2010. Identifying patient fearavoidance beliefs by physical therapists managing patients with low back pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 40, 774-783.
- Chou R and Shekelle P. 2010. Will this patient develop persistent disabling low back pain? JAMA 303, 1295-1302.
- Clark ME, Kori S and Brockel J. 1996. Kinesiophobia and chronic pain: psychometrics characteristics and factor analysis of the Tampa Scale. American pain society annual meeting.
- Cleland JA, Fritz JM and Childs JD. 2008. Psychometric properties of the Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire and Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia in patients with neck pain. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 87, 109-117.
- Cohen B, Clark ME, Gironda R and Gironda JA. 2003. Assessing Fear of (re) Injury Among Chronic Pain Patients: Revision of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia. 22nd Annual Scientific Meeting, Chigaco, IL, American pain society.

- Cohen J. 1988. Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences. New York, Academic Press. pp. 273-288.
- Cohen JA. 1960. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. Educ Psychol Meas 20, 37-46.
- Cook AJ, Roberts DA, Henderson MD, Van Winkle LC, Chastain DC and Hamill-Ruth RJ. 2004. Electronic pain questionnaires: a randomized, crossover comparison with paper questionnaires for chronic pain assessment. Pain 110, 310-317.
- Cook AJ, Brawer PA and Vowles KE. 2006. The fear-avoidance model of chronic pain: validation and age analysis using structural equation modeling. Pain 121, 195-206.
- Cook KF, Roddey TS, Bamer AM, Amtmann D and Keefe FJ. 2013. Validity of an observation method for assessing pain behavior in individuals with multiple sclerosis. J Pain Symptom Manage 46, 413-421.
- Cortina JM. 1993. What Is Coefficient Alpha? an Examination of Theory and Applications. Journal of Applied Psychology 78, 98-104.
- Costigan M, Belfer I, Griffin RS, Dai F, Barrett LB, Coppola G, Wu T, Kiselycznyk C, Poddar M, Lu Y, Diatchenko L, Smith S, Cobos EJ, Zaykin D, Allchorne A, Gershon E, Livneh J, Shen PH, Nikolajsen L, Karppinen J, Mannikko M, Kelempisioti A, Goldman D, Maixner W, Geschwind DH, Max MB, Seltzer Z and Woolf CJ. 2010. Multiple chronic pain states are associated with a common amino acid-changing allele in KCNS1. Brain 133, 2519-2527.
- Council JR, Ahern DK, Follick MJ and Kline CL. 1988. Expectancies and functional impairment in chronic low back pain. Pain 33, 323-331.
- Crombez G, Eccleston C, Baeyens F and Eelen P. 1998. When somatic information threatens, catastrophic thinking enhances attentional interference. Pain 75, 187-198.
- Crombez G, Vlaeyen JW, Heuts PH and Lysens R. 1999. Pain-related fear is more disabling than pain itself: evidence on the role of pain-related fear in chronic back pain disability. Pain 80, 329-339.
- Crombez G, Eccleston C, Vlaeyen JW, Vansteenwegen D, Lysens R and Eelen P. 2002. Exposure to physical movements in low back pain patients: restricted effects of generalization. Health Psychol 21, 573-578.
- Crombez G, Eccleston C, Van Damme S, Vlaeyen JW and Karoly P. 2012. Fearavoidance model of chronic pain: the next generation. Clin J Pain 28, 475-483.

- Damsgard E, Fors T, Anke A and Roe C. 2007. The Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia: A Rasch analysis of its properties in subjects with low back and more widespread pain. J Rehabil Med 39, 672-678.
- Davis M. 2006. Neural systems involved in fear and anxiety measured with fearpotentiated startle. Am Psychol 61, 741-756.
- de Souza FS, Marinho Cda S, Siqueira FB, Maher CG and Costa LO. 2008. Psychometric testing confirms that the Brazilian-Portuguese adaptations, the original versions of the Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire, and the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia have similar measurement properties. Spine 33, 1028-1033.
- Demoulin C, Huijnen IP, Somville PR, Grosdent S, Salamun I, Crielaard JM, Vanderthommen M and Volders S. 2013. Relationship between different measures of pain-related fear and physical capacity of the spine in patients with chronic low back pain. Spine J 13, 1039-1047.
- Deyo RA, Diehr P and Patrick DL. 1991. Reproducibility and responsiveness of health status measures. Statistics and strategies for evaluation. Control Clin Trials 12, 142S-158S.
- Dionne CE, Bourbonnais R, Fremont P, Rossignol M, Stock SR and Larocque I. 2005. A clinical return-to-work rule for patients with back pain. CMAJ 172, 1559-1567.
- Domenech J, Sanchis-Alfonso V and Espejo B. 2014. Changes in catastrophizing and kinesiophobia are predictive of changes in disability and pain after treatment in patients with anterior knee pain. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 22, 2295-2300.
- Eccleston C and Crombez G. 1999. Pain demands attention: a cognitive-affective model of the interruptive function of pain. Psychol Bull 125, 356-366.
- Eccleston C, Crombez G, Aldrich S and Stannard C. 2001. Worry and chronic pain patients: a description and analysis of individual differences. Eur J Pain 5, 309-318.
- Efron B and Tibshirani R. 1991. Statistical data analysis in the computer age. Science 253, 390-395.
- Efron B and Tibshirani RJ. 1993. An introduction to the bootsrap. New York, Chapman & Hall. pp.
- Elfving B, Andersson T and Grooten WJ. 2007. Low levels of physical activity in back pain patients are associated with high levels of fear-avoidance beliefs and pain catastrophizing. Physiother Res Int 12, 14-24.

- Engel GL. 1977. The need for a new medical model: a challenge for biomedicine. Science 196, 129-136.
- Eysenck MW. 1992. Anxiety: The cognitive perspective. Hove, UK, Lawrence Erlbaum Ltd. pp. 155-156.
- Feinstein AR and Cicchetti DV. 1990. High agreement but low kappa: I. The problems of two paradoxes. J Clin Epidemiol 43, 543-549.
- Fleiss J. 1999. The Design and Analysis of Clinical Experiments. New York, John Wiley & Sons. pp. 3-7.
- Fordyce WE. 1982. A behavioural perspective on chronic pain. Br J Clin Psychol 21 (Pt 4), 313-320.
- Foss JM, Apkarian AV and Chialvo DR. 2006. Dynamics of pain: fractal dimension of temporal variability of spontaneous pain differentiates between pain States. J Neurophysiol 95, 730-736.
- French DJ, Roach PJ and Mayes S. 2002. Fear of movement in injured workers. Can J Behav Sci 34, 28-33.
- French DJ, France CR, Vigneau F, French JA and Evans RT. 2007. Fear of movement/(re)injury in chronic pain: a psychometric assessment of the original English version of the Tampa scale for kinesiophobia (TSK). Pain 127, 42-51.
- Gatchel RJ, Peng YB, Peters ML, Fuchs PN and Turk DC. 2007. The biopsychosocial approach to chronic pain: scientific advances and future directions. Psychol Bull 133, 581-624.
- Geisser ME, Haig AJ and Theisen ME. 2000. Activity avoidance and function in persons with chronic back pain. J Occup Rehabil 10, 215-227.
- George D and Mallery P. 2003. SPSS for Windows step by step: A simple guide and reference. 11.0 update Boston, Allyn & Bacon. pp. 231.
- Gheldof EL, Vinck J, Van den Bussche E, Vlaeyen JW, Hidding A and Crombez G. 2006. Pain and pain-related fear are associated with functional and social disability in an occupational setting: evidence of mediation by painrelated fear. Eur J Pain 10, 513-525.
- Gheldof EL, Crombez G, Van den Bussche E, Vinck J, Van Nieuwenhuyse A, Moens G, Mairiaux P and Vlaeyen JW. 2010. Pain-related fear predicts disability, but not pain severity: a path analytic approach of the fearavoidance model. Eur J Pain 14, 870 e871-879.
- Gilmartin MR, Balderston NL and Helmstetter FJ. 2014. Prefrontal cortical regulation of fear learning. Trends Neurosci 37, 455-464.
- Glombiewski JA, Hartwich-Tersek J and Rief W. 2010. Depression in chronic back pain patients: prediction of pain intensity and pain disability in cognitive-behavioral treatment. Psychosomatics 51, 130-136.
- Gomez-Perez L, Lopez-Martinez AE and Ruiz-Parraga GT. 2011. Psychometric Properties of the Spanish Version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia (TSK). J Pain 12, 425-435.
- Goubert L, Crombez G, Van Damme S, Vlaeyen JW, Bijttebier P and Roelofs J. 2004. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia: invariant two-factor model across low back pain patients and fibromyalgia patients. Clin J Pain 20, 103-110.
- Grönblad M, Hupli M, Wennerstrand P, Järvinen E, Lukinmaa A, Kouri JP and Karaharju EO. 1993. Intercorrelation and test-retest reliability of the Pain Disability Index (PDI) and the Oswestry Disability Questionnaire (ODQ) and their correlation with pain intensity in low back pain patients. Clin J Pain 9, 189-195.
- Grönblad M, Hurri H and Kouri JP. 1997. Relationships between spinal mobility, physical performance tests, pain intensity and disability assessments in chronic low back pain patients. Scand J Rehabil Med 29, 17-24.
- Gwaltney CJ, Shields AL and Shiffman S. 2008. Equivalence of electronic and paper-and-pencil administration of patient-reported outcome measures: a meta-analytic review. Value Health 11, 322-333.
- HajGhanbari B, Holsti L, Road JD and Darlene Reid W. 2012. Pain in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Respir Med 106, 998-1005.
- Hanscom B, Lurie JD, Homa K and Weinstein JN. 2002. Computerized questionnaires and the quality of survey data. Spine 27, 1797-1801.
- Harald K, Salomaa V, Jousilahti P, Koskinen S and Vartiainen E. 2007. Nonparticipation and mortality in different socioeconomic groups: the FINRISK population surveys in 1972-92. J Epidemiol Community Health 61, 449-454.
- Harding VR, Williams AC, Richardson PH, Nicholas MK, Jackson JL, Richardson IH and Pither CE. 1994. The development of a battery of measures for assessing physical functioning of chronic pain patients. Pain 58, 367-375.
- Hartvigsen J, Nielsen J, Kyvik KO, Fejer R, Vach W, Iachine I and Leboeuf-Yde C. 2009. Heritability of spinal pain and consequences of spinal pain: a comprehensive genetic epidemiologic analysis using a population-based sample of 15,328 twins ages 20-71 years. Arthritis Rheum 61, 1343-1351.

- Hasenbring MI, Hallner D and Klasen B. 2001. Psychological mechanism in the transition from acute to chronic pain: over- or underrated. Schmerz 15, 442-447.
- Heistaro S, Vartiainen E, Heliövaara M and Puska P. 1998. Trends of back pain in eastern Finland, 1972-1992, in relation to socioeconomic status and behavioral risk factors. Am J Epidemiol 148, 671-682.
- Heneweer H, Vanhees L and Picavet HS. 2009. Physical activity and low back pain: a U-shaped relation? Pain 143, 21-25.
- Heuts PH, Vlaeyen JW, Roelofs J, de Bie RA, Aretz K, van Weel C and van Schayck OC. 2004. Pain-related fear and daily functioning in patients with osteoarthritis. Pain 110, 228-235.
- Houben RM, Leeuw M, Vlaeyen JW, Goubert L and Picavet HS. 2005. Fear of movement/injury in the general population: factor structure and psychometric properties of an adapted version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. J Behav Med 28, 415-424.
- Huijnen IP, Verbunt JA, Roelofs J, Goossens M and Peters M. 2009. The disabling role of fluctuations in physical activity in patients with chronic low back pain. Eur J Pain 13, 1076-1079.
- Jensen IB, Bradley LA and Linton SJ. 1989. Validation of an observation method of pain assessment in non-chronic back pain. Pain 39, 267-274.
- Kaila-Kangas L, Ed. 2007. Musculoskeletal Disorders and Diseases in Finland. Results of the Health 2000 Survey. Publications of the National Health Institute, B 25 / 2007. Helsinki, The National Health Institute. pp. 19-41.
- Keefe F and Block A. 1982. Development of an observational method for assessing pain behaviour in chronic low back pain. Behav Ther 13, 363-375.
- Keefe FJ and Hill RW. 1985. An objective approach to quantifying pain behavior and gait patterns in low back pain patients. Pain 21, 153-161.
- Keefe FJ, Caldwell DS, Queen K, Gil KM, Martinez S, Crisson JE, Ogden W and Nunley J. 1987. Osteoarthritic knee pain: a behavioral analysis. Pain 28, 309-321.
- Keefe FJ and Dunsmore J. 1992. Pain behaviour: concepts and controversies. Am Pain Soc J 1, 92-100.
- Keller A, Brox JI and Reikerås O. 2008. Predictors of change in trunk muscle strength for patients with chronic low back pain randomized to lumbar fusion or cognitive intervention and exercises. Pain Med 9, 680-687.

- Kernan T and Rainville J. 2007. Observed outcomes associated with a quotabased exercise approach on measures of kinesiophobia in patients with chronic low back pain. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 37, 679-687.
- Klaber Moffett JA, Carr J and Howarth E. 2004. High fear-avoiders of physical activity benefit from an exercise program for patients with back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 29, 1167-1172; discussion 1173.
- Kleinke CL and Spangler AS, Jr. 1988. Psychometric analysis of the audiovisual taxonomy for assessing pain behavior in chronic back-pain patients. J Behav Med 11, 83-94.
- Kori S, Miller R and Todd D. 1990. Kinesiophobia: a new view of chronic pain behavior. Pain management Jan/Feb, 35-43.
- Landis JR and Koch GG. 1977. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 33, 159-174.
- Lang PJ, Davis M and Ohman A. 2000. Fear and anxiety: animal models and human cognitive psychophysiology. J Affect Disord 61, 137-159.
- Larsson C, Hansson EE, Sundquist K and Jakobsson U. 2014. Psychometric properties of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-11) among older people with chronic pain. Physiother Theory Pract 30, 421-428.
- Leeuw M, Houben RM, Severeijns R, Picavet HS, Schouten EG and Vlaeyen JW. 2007a. Pain-related fear in low back pain: a prospective study in the general population. Eur J Pain 11, 256-266.
- Leeuw M, Goossens ME, Linton SJ, Crombez G, Boersma K and Vlaeyen JW. 2007b. The fear-avoidance model of musculoskeletal pain: current state of scientific evidence. J Behav Med 30, 77-94.
- Lethem J, Slade PD, Troup JD and Bentley G. 1983. Outline of a Fear-Avoidance Model of exaggerated pain perception--I. Behav Res Ther 21, 401-408.
- Loeser JD and Fordyce WE. 1983. Chronic Pain. In: Behavioral science in the practice of medicine. Eds. Carr JE and Dengerik HE. Amsterdam, Elsevier:pp. 331-345.
- Loeser JD and Melzack R. 1999. Pain: an overview. Lancet 353, 1607-1609.
- Lundberg M, Styf J and Carlsson SG. 2004. A psychometric evaluation of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia - from a physiotherapeutic perspective. Physiotherapy Theory and Practice 20, 121-133.
- Lundberg M, Styf J and Jansson B. 2009. On what patients does the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia fit? Physiother Theory Pract 25, 495-506.

- Lundberg M, Grimby-Ekman A, Verbunt J and Simmonds MJ. 2011a. Painrelated fear: a critical review of the related measures. Pain Res Treat 2011, 494196.
- Lundberg M, Frennered K, Hagg O and Styf J. 2011b. The impact of fearavoidance model variables on disability in patients with specific or nonspecific chronic low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 36, 1547-1553.
- Luning Bergsten C, Lundberg M, Lindberg P and Elfving B. 2012. Change in kinesiophobia and its relation to activity limitation after multidisciplinary rehabilitation in patients with chronic back pain. Disabil Rehabil 34, 852-858.
- Main CJ. 1983. The Modified Somatic Perception Questionnaire (MSPQ). J Psychosom Res 27, 503-514.
- Main CJ, Wood PL, Hollis S, Spanswick CC and Waddell G. 1992. The Distress and Risk Assessment Method. A simple patient classification to identify distress and evaluate the risk of poor outcome. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 17, 42-52.
- Main CJ and Watson PJ. 1996. Guarded movements: development of chronicity. J Musculoskel Pain 4, 163-170.
- Mannion AF, Junge A, Taimela S, Muntener M, Lorenzo K and Dvorak J. 2001. Active therapy for chronic low back pain: part 3. Factors influencing selfrated disability and its change following therapy. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 26, 920-929.
- Mäntyselka P, Kumpusalo E, Ahonen R, Kumpusalo A, Kauhanen J, Viinamäki H, Halonen P and Takala J. 2001. Pain as a reason to visit the doctor: a study in Finnish primary health care. Pain 89, 175-180.
- Marx RG, Menezes A, Horovitz L, Jones EC and Warren RF. 2003. A comparison of two time intervals for test-retest reliability of health status instruments. J Clin Epidemiol 56, 730-735.
- Mattlar C-E, Raitasalo R, Putkonen A-R, Hyyppä MT, Englund C and Helenius H. 1988. The association of depression with various cognitive functions in the Finnish population. j Clin Experimental Neuropsychol 10, 324.
- McCahon S, Strong J, Sharry R and Cramond T. 2005. Self-report and pain behavior among patients with chronic pain. Clin J Pain 21, 223-231.
- McCracken L and Gross R. 1998. The role of pain-related anxiety reduction in the outcome of multidisciplinary treatment for chronic low back pain: Preliminary results. J Occup Rehabil 8, 179-189.

- McCracken LM, Zayfert C and Gross RT. 1992. The Pain Anxiety Symptoms Scale: development and validation of a scale to measure fear of pain. Pain 50, 67-73.
- McDaniel LK, Anderson KO, Bradley LA, Young LD, Turner RA, Agudelo CA and Keefe FJ. 1986. Development of an observation method for assessing pain behavior in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Pain 24, 165-184.
- McLachlan EM, Janig W, Devor M and Michaelis M. 1993. Peripheral nerve injury triggers noradrenergic sprouting within dorsal root ganglia. Nature 363, 543-546.
- McNaughton N and Gray JA. 2000. Anxiolytic action on the behavioural inhibition system implies multiple types of arousal contribute to anxiety. J Affect Disord 61, 161-176.
- McNeil DW, Rainwater AJ and Al-Jazireh L. 1986. Development of a methodology to measure fear of pain. Proceedings of the Annual meeting of the Association for Advancement of Behavior Therapy.
- McQuade KJ, Turner JA and Buchner DM. 1988. Physical fitness and chronic low back pain. An analysis of the relationships among fitness, functional limitations, and depression. Clin Orthop Relat Res, 198-204.
- Melloh M, Elfering A, Egli Presland C, Roder C, Hendrick P, Darlow B and Theis JC. 2011. Predicting the transition from acute to persistent low back pain. Occup Med (Lond) 61, 127-131.
- Melzack R and Wall PD. 1965. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science 150, 971-979.
- Miller R, Kori S and Todd D. 1991. The Tampa Scale. Unpublished Report.
- Mintken PE, Cleland JA, Whitman JM and George SZ. 2010. Psychometric properties of the Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire and Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia in patients with shoulder pain. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 91, 1128-1136.
- Monticone M, Giorgi I, Baiardi P, Barbieri M, Rocca B and Bonezzi C. 2010. Development of the Italian version of the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia (TSK-I): cross-cultural adaptation, factor analysis, reliability, and validity. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 35, 1241-1246.
- Nijs J, De Meirleir K and Duquet W. 2004. Kinesiophobia in chronic fatigue syndrome: assessment and associations with disability. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 85, 1586-1592.

- Nijs J and Thielemans A. 2008. Kinesiophobia and symptomatology in chronic fatigue syndrome: a psychometric study of two questionnaires. Psychol Psychother 81, 273-283.
- Ostelo RW, Swinkels-Meewisse IJ, Knol DL, Vlaeyen JW and de Vet HC. 2007. Assessing pain and pain-related fear in acute low back pain: what is the smallest detectable change? Int J Behav Med 14, 242-248.
- Pavlin DJ, Sullivan MJ, Freund PR and Roesen K. 2005. Catastrophizing: a risk factor for postsurgical pain. Clin J Pain 21, 83-90.
- Pekkanen L, Kautiainen H, Ylinen J, Salo P and Häkkinen A. 2011. Reliability and validity study of the Finnish version 2.0 of the oswestry disability index. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 36, 332-338.
- Peters ML, Vlaeyen JW and Weber WE. 2005. The joint contribution of physical pathology, pain-related fear and catastrophizing to chronic back pain disability. Pain 113, 45-50.
- Philips HC. 1987. Avoidance behaviour and its role in sustaining chronic pain. Behav Res Ther 25, 273-279.
- Picavet HS, Vlaeyen JW and Schouten JS. 2002. Pain catastrophizing and kinesiophobia: predictors of chronic low back pain. Am J Epidemiol 156, 1028-1034.
- Pihl E, Matsin T and Jürimae T. 2002. Physical activity, musculoskeletal disorders and cardiovascular risk factors in male physical education teachers. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 42, 466-471.
- Pincus T, Vogel S, Burton AK, Santos R and Field AP. 2006. Fear avoidance and prognosis in back pain: a systematic review and synthesis of current evidence. Arthritis Rheum 54, 3999-4010.
- Pitman EJG. 1939. A note on normal correlation. Biometrika 31, 9-12.
- Pope MH, Rosen JC, Wilder DG and Frymoyer JW. 1980. The relation between biomechanical and psychological factors in patients with low-back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 5, 173-178.
- Portney LG and Watkins MP. 2000. Foundations of clinical research: application to practice. Upper Saddle River, N.J., Prentice Hall. pp.
- Prkachin KM, Hughes E, Schultz I, Joy P and Hunt D. 2002. Real-time assessment of pain behavior during clinical assessment of low back pain patients. Pain 95, 23-30.
- Rachman S. 2004. Anxiety. Howe and New York, Psychology Press. pp.

- Rankin G and Stokes M. 1998. Reliability of assessment tools in rehabilitation: an illustration of appropriate statistical analyses. Clin Rehabil 12, 187-199.
- Reneman MF, Schiphorts Preuper HR, Kleen M, Geertzen JH and Dijkstra PU. 2007. Are pain intensity and pain related fear related to functional capacity evaluation performances of patients with chronic low back pain? J Occup Rehabil 17, 247-258.
- Rhudy JL and Meagher MW. 2000. Fear and anxiety: divergent effects on human pain thresholds. Pain 84, 65-75.
- Rhudy JL, France CR, Bartley EJ, Williams AE, McCabe KM and Russell JL.
 2009. Does pain catastrophizing moderate the relationship between spinal nociceptive processes and pain sensitivity? J Pain 10, 860-869.
- Richard DCS and Lauterbach D. 2004. Computers in the training and practice of behavioral medicine. In: Comprehensive Handbook of Psychological Assessment, vol 3: Behavioral assessment. Eds. Haynes SN and Heiby EM. New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- Richards JS, Nepomuceno C, Riles M and Suer Z. 1982. Assessing pain behavior: the UAB Pain Behavior Scale. Pain 14, 393-398.
- Riihimäki H and Viikari-Juntura E. 2000. Back and limb disorders. In: Epidemiology of work-related diseases. Eds. McDonald JE. London, UK, BMJ Books:pp. 233-265.
- Roelofs J, Goubert L, Peters ML, Vlaeyen JW and Crombez G. 2004. The Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia: further examination of psychometric properties in patients with chronic low back pain and fibromyalgia. Eur J Pain 8, 495-502.
- Roelofs J, Sluiter JK, Frings-Dresen MH, Goossens M, Thibault P, Boersma K and Vlaeyen JW. 2007. Fear of movement and (re)injury in chronic musculoskeletal pain: Evidence for an invariant two-factor model of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia across pain diagnoses and Dutch, Swedish, and Canadian samples. Pain 131, 181-190.
- Roelofs J, van Breukelen G, Sluiter J, Frings-Dresen MH, Goossens M, Thibault P, Boersma K and Vlaeyen JW. 2011. Norming of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia across pain diagnoses and various countries. Pain 152, 1090-1095.
- Romano JM and Turner JA. 1985. Chronic pain and depression: does the evidence support a relationship? Psychol Bull 97, 18-34.
- Romano JM, Turner JA and Jensen MP. 1992. The Chronic Illness Problem Inventory as a measure of dysfunction in chronic pain patients. Pain 49, 71-75.

- Rusu AC, Kreddig N, Hallner D, Hulsebusch J and Hasenbring MI. 2014. Fear of movement/(Re)injury in low back pain: confirmatory validation of a German version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 15, 280.
- Sallis JF, Haskell WL, Wood PD, Fortmann SP, Rogers T, Blair SN and Paffenbarger RS, Jr. 1985. Physical activity assessment methodology in the Five-City Project. Am J Epidemiol 121, 91-106.
- Sallis JF and Saelens BE. 2000. Assessment of physical activity by self-report: status, limitations, and future directions. Res Q Exerc Sport 71, S1-14.
- Schiphorst Preuper HR, Reneman MF, Boonstra AM, Dijkstra PU, Versteegen GJ, Geertzen JH and Brouwer S. 2008. Relationship between psychological factors and performance-based and self-reported disability in chronic low back pain. Eur Spine J 17, 1448-1456.
- Scholten-Peeters GG, Bekkering GE, Verhagen AP, van Der Windt DA, Lanser K, Hendriks EJ and Oostendorp RA. 2002. Clinical practice guideline for the physiotherapy of patients with whiplash-associated disorders. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 27, 412-422.
- Severeijns R, Vlaeyen JW, van den Hout MA and Weber WE. 2001. Pain catastrophizing predicts pain intensity, disability, and psychological distress independent of the level of physical impairment. Clin J Pain 17, 165-172.
- Severeijns R, Vlaeyen JW, van den Hout MA and Picavet HS. 2004. Pain catastrophizing is associated with health indices in musculoskeletal pain: a cross-sectional study in the Dutch community. Health Psychol 23, 49-57.
- Sheen K and Chung JM. 1993. Signs of neuropathic pain depend on signals from injured nerve fibers in a rat model. Brain Res 610, 62-68.
- Sieben JM, Vlaeyen JW, Portegijs PJ, Verbunt JA, van Riet-Rutgers S, Kester AD, Von Korff M, Arntz A and Knottnerus JA. 2005a. A longitudinal study on the predictive validity of the fear-avoidance model in low back pain. Pain 117, 162-170.
- Sieben JM, Portegijs PJ, Vlaeyen JW and Knottnerus JA. 2005b. Pain-related fear at the start of a new low back pain episode. Eur J Pain 9, 635-641.
- Silver A, Haeney M, Vijayadurai P, Wilks D, Pattrick M and Main CJ. 2002. The role of fear of physical movement and activity in chronic fatigue syndrome. J Psychosom Res 52, 485-493.

- Simmonds MJ, Olson SL, Jones S, Hussein T, Lee CE, Novy D and Radwan H. 1998. Psychometric characteristics and clinical usefulness of physical performance tests in patients with low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 23, 2412-2421.
- Siqueira FB, Teixeira-Salmela LF and Magalhaes LC. 2007. Analysis of the psychometric properties of the Brazilian version of the Tampa scale for kinesiophobia. Acta Ortop Bras 15, 19-24.
- Skinner BF. 1953. Science and human behavior. New York, Macmillan. pp.
- Smeets RJ, van Geel KD and Verbunt JA. 2009. Is the fear avoidance model associated with the reduced level of aerobic fitness in patients with chronic low back pain? Arch Phys Med Rehabil 90, 109-117.
- Sofi F, Capalbo A, Marcucci R, Gori AM, Fedi S, Macchi C, Casini A, Surrenti C, Abbate R and Gensini GF. 2007. Leisure time but not occupational physical activity significantly affects cardiovascular risk factors in an adult population. Eur J Clin Invest 37, 947-953.
- Stone AA, Shiffman S, Schwartz JE, Broderick JE and Hufford MR. 2002. Patient non-compliance with paper diaries. Bmj 324, 1193-1194.
- Sullivan MJ, Lynch ME and Clark AJ. 2005. Dimensions of catastrophic thinking associated with pain experience and disability in patients with neuropathic pain conditions. Pain 113, 310-315.
- Sullivan MJ, Adams H, Horan S, Maher D, Boland D and Gross R. 2008. The role of perceived injustice in the experience of chronic pain and disability: scale development and validation. J Occup Rehabil 18, 249-261.
- Sullivan MJ, Thibault P, Andrikonyte J, Butler H, Catchlove R and Lariviere C. 2009. Psychological influences on repetition-induced summation of activity-related pain in patients with chronic low back pain. Pain 141, 70-78.
- Sullivan MJL, Bishop SR and Pivik J. 1995. The Pain Catastrophizing Scale: Development and validation. Psychol Assess 7, 524-532.
- Svensson E. 2001. Guidelines to statistical evaluation of data from rating scales and questionnaires. J Rehabil Med 33, 47-48.
- Swinkels-Meewisse EJ, Swinkels RA, Verbeek AL, Vlaeyen JW and Oostendorp RA. 2003a. Psychometric properties of the Tampa Scale for kinesiophobia and the fear-avoidance beliefs questionnaire in acute low back pain. Man Ther 8, 29-36.

- Swinkels-Meewisse IE, Roelofs J, Verbeek AL, Oostendorp RA and Vlaeyen JW. 2003b. Fear of movement/(re)injury, disability and participation in acute low back pain. Pain 105, 371-379.
- Swinkels-Meewisse IE, Roelofs J, Schouten EG, Verbeek AL, Oostendorp RA and Vlaeyen JW. 2006a. Fear of movement/(re)injury predicting chronic disabling low back pain: a prospective inception cohort study. Spine 31, 658-664.
- Swinkels-Meewisse IE, Roelofs J, Oostendorp RA, Verbeek AL and Vlaeyen JW. 2006b. Acute low back pain: pain-related fear and pain catastrophizing influence physical performance and perceived disability. Pain 120, 36-43.
- Tabachnick BG and Fidell LS. 2006. Using multivariate statistics. Needham Heights, MA, USA, Allyn & Bacon Inc. pp.
- Thomas JS, France CR, Sha D and Wiele NV. 2008. The influence of painrelated fear on peak muscle activity and force generation during maximal isometric trunk exertions. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 33, E342-348.
- Thompson WD and Walter SD. 1988. A reappraisal of the kappa coefficient. J Clin Epidemiol 41, 949-958.
- Tkachuk GA and Harris CA. 2012. Psychometric properties of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia-11 (TSK-11). J Pain 13, 970-977.
- Tolonen H, Kuulasmaa K, Laatikainen T, Wolf H and Project EHRM. 2002. Recommendation for indicators, international collaboration, protocol and manual of operations for chronic disease risk factor surveys. wwwpublications from the EHRM Project, Available.
- Torebjörk HE, Lundberg LE and LaMotte RH. 1992. Central changes in processing of mechanoreceptive input in capsaicin-induced secondary hyperalgesia in humans. J Physiol 448, 765-780.
- Trost Z, France CR and Thomas JS. 2008. Exposure to movement in chronic back pain: evidence of successful generalization across a reaching task. Pain 137, 26-33.
- Tuero C, De Paz JA and Marquez S. 2001. Relationship of measures of leisure time physical activity to physical fitness indicators in Spanish adults. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 41, 62-67.
- Turk DC and Holzman AD. 1986. Chronic pain: Interfaces among physical, physiological and social parameters. In: Pain management. A handbook of physiological treatment approaches. Eds. Holzman AD and Turk DC. New York, Pergamon.

- Turner JA, Jensen MP, Warms CA and Cardenas DD. 2002. Catastrophizing is associated with pain intensity, psychological distress, and pain-related disability among individuals with chronic pain after spinal cord injury. Pain 98, 127-134.
- Uebersax J. 1987. Diversity of decision-making models and the measurement of interrater agreement. Psychol Bull 101, 140-146.
- Waddell G, Newton M, Henderson I, Somerville D and Main CJ. 1993. A Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ) and the role of fear-avoidance beliefs in chronic low back pain and disability. Pain 52, 157-168.
- Walton D and Elliott JM. 2013. A higher-order analysis supports use of the 11-item version of the tampa scale for kinesiophobia in people with neck pain. Phys Ther 93, 60-68.
- van Wilgen CP, Dijkstra PU, Versteegen GJ, Fleuren MJ, Stewart R and van Wijhe M. 2009. Chronic pain and severe disuse syndrome: longterm outcome of an inpatient multidisciplinary cognitive behavioural programme. J Rehabil Med 41, 122-128.
- Watson P. 1999a. Interdisciplinary Pain Management in Fibromyalgia. In: Fibromyalgia: A Practitioners Guide to Treatment. Eds. Chaitow L. Edinburgh, Churchill Livingstone:pp. 91-109.
- Watson PJ and Poulter ME. 1997. The development of a functional task-oriented measure of pain behaviour in chronic low back patients. Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal rehabilitation 9, 57-99.
- Watson PJ, Booker CK, Main CJ and Chen AC. 1997. Surface electromyography in the identification of chronic low back pain patients: the development of the flexion relaxation ratio. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 12, 165-171.
- Watson PJ. 1999b. Non-physical determinants of physical performance in musculoskeletal pain. In: Pain 1999. Eds. Max M. Seattle, IASP Press:pp. 153-159.
- WHO. 1998. MONICA Project Manual. WHO.
- WHO. 2001. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health: ICF. Geneva, World Health Organization. pp. 18-20, 33-42.
- Wideman TH, Adams H and Sullivan MJ. 2009. A prospective sequential analysis of the fear-avoidance model of pain. Pain 145, 45-51.
- Viikari-Juntura E, Heliövaara M, Solovieva S and Rahman S. 2012. Tuki- ja liikuntaelinsairaudet. In: Terveys, toimintakyky ja hyvinvointi Suomessa 2011 Eds. Koskinen S, Lundqvist A and Ristiluoma N. Helsinki, Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos (THL). Raportti 68/2012:pp. 92-95.

- Williams FM, Spector TD and MacGregor AJ. 2010. Pain reporting at different body sites is explained by a single underlying genetic factor. Rheumatology (Oxford) 49, 1753-1755.
- Williamson A and Hoggart B. 2005. Pain: a review of three commonly used pain rating scales. J Clin Nurs 14, 798-804.
- Visscher CM, Ohrbach R, van Wijk AJ, Wilkosz M and Naeije M. 2010. The Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia for Temporomandibular Disorders (TSK-TMD). Pain 150, 492-500.
- Vlaeyen JW, Van Eek H, Groenman NH and Schuerman JA. 1987. Dimensions and components of observed chronic pain behavior. Pain 31, 65-75.
- Vlaeyen JW, Kole-Snijders AM, Rooteveel A, Ruesink R and Heuts PH. 1995a. The role of fear of movement/(re)injury in pain disability. J Occup Rehabil 5, 235-252.
- Vlaeyen JW, Kole-Snijders AM, Boeren RG and van Eek H. 1995b. Fear of movement/(re)injury in chronic low back pain and its relation to behavioral performance. Pain 62, 363-372.
- Vlaeyen JW and Linton SJ. 2000. Fear-avoidance and its consequences in chronic musculoskeletal pain: a state of the art. Pain 85, 317-332.
- Vlaeyen JW, De Jong JR, Onghena P, Kerckhoffs-Hanssen M and Kole-Snijders AM. 2002. Can pain-related fear be reduced? The application of cognitivebehavioural exposure in vivo. Pain Res Manag 7, 144-153.
- Vlaeyen JW, Timmermans C, Rodriguez LM, Crombez G, van Horne W, Ayers GM, Albert A and Wellens HJ. 2004. Catastrophic thinking about pain increases discomfort during internal atrial cardioversion. J Psychosom Res 56, 139-144.
- Vlaeyen JW and Linton SJ. 2012. Fear-avoidance model of chronic musculoskeletal pain: 12 years on. Pain 153, 1144-1147.
- Woby SR, Roach NK, Urmston M and Watson PJ. 2005. Psychometric properties of the TSK-11: a shortened version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. Pain 117, 137-144.
- Wong WS, Kwok HY, Luk KD, Chow YF, Mak KH, Tam BK, Wong ET and Fielding R. 2010. Fear of movement/(re)injury in Chinese patients with chronic pain: Factorial validity of the Chinese version of the Tampa Scale for Kinesiophobia. J Rehabil Med 42, 620-629.
- Voscopoulos C and Lema M. 2010. When does acute pain become chronic? Br J Anaesth 105 Suppl 1, i69-85.

- Vowles KE and Gross RT. 2003. Work-related beliefs about injury and physical capability for work in individuals with chronic pain. Pain 101, 291-298.
- Vuillemin A, Boini S, Bertrais S, Tessier S, Oppert JM, Hercberg S, Guillemin F and Briancon S. 2005. Leisure time physical activity and health-related quality of life. Prev Med 41, 562-569.
- Zale EL, Lange KL, Fields SA and Ditre JW. 2013. The relation between painrelated fear and disability: a meta-analysis. J Pain 14, 1019-1030.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1. Suomenkielinen liikkumisen pelko/TSK -lomake

	Nimi: He		tu		Pvm:	
	Tähän on kerätty ilmaisuja joita henkilöt ovat käyttäneet kuvaamaan olotilaansa.				Ole hyvä ja	
	rastita kunkin lauseen kohdalla vaihtoehto, joka kuvaa parhaiten mielipidettäsi.					
		Täysi n eri	Jonkin verran	Jonkin verran	Täysin samaa	
		mieltä	eri mieltä	samaa mieltä	mieltä	
1.	Pelkään loukkaavani itseni, jos harrastan liikuntaa	1	2	3	4	
2.	Jos yrittäisin voittaa kivun, se vain pahenisi	1	2	3	4	
3.	Kehoni viestii, että minussa on jotain pahasti vialla	1	2	3	4	
4.	Kipu todennäköisesti helpottaisi, jos harrastaisin liikuntaa	1	2	3	4	
5.	Terveydentilaani ei oteta tarpeeksi vakavasti	1	2	3	4	
6.	Onnettomuus on lisännyt loukkaantumisalttiuttani pysyvästi	1	2	3	4	
7.	Kipu on aina merkki siitä, että olen loukannut itseni	1	2	3	4	
8.	Vaikka jokin pahentaisi kipua, se ei välttämättä ole vaarallista	1	2	3	4	
9.	Pelkään, että loukkaan vahingossa itseni	1	2	3	4	
10.	Paras tapa estää kipua pahenemasta on olla varovainen ja varoa turhia liikkeitä	1	2	3	4	
11.	Minulla ei olisi näin paljon kipua, ellei kehossani olisi jotain pahastikin vialla	1	2	3	4	
12.	Vaikka minulla on kipuja, oloni olisi parempi, jos olisin fyysisesti aktiivinen	1	2	3	4	
13.	Kipu kertoo, milloin on syytä lopettaa liikunta, jotten loukkaisi itseäni	1	2	3	4	
14.	Minun tilassani olevalle ihmiselle ei todellakaan ole terveellistä olla fyysisesti aktiivinen	1	2	3	4	
15.	En voi tehdä kaikkea mitä normaalit ihmiset tekevät, koska loukkaan itseni liian helposti	1	2	3	4	
16.	Vaikka jokin tuottaa minulle paljon kipua, en pidä sitä varsinaisesti vaarallisena	1	2	3	4	
17.	Kenenkään ei pitäisi joutua harrastamaan liikuntaa silloin kun on kipuja	1	2	3	4	